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ANNUAL REPORT 2010

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FERE

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Hop Fung Group Holdings
Limited (the "Company’ and with its subsidiaries, the “Group’ “us’
“our” or "we"), | am delighted to present to our Shareholders our

2010 annual results.

Demand from European and American consumers fell sharply
after the financial crisis of 2009, but the Group moved swiftly to
re-focus our business on the Mainland domestic market to exploit
its rapidly growing demand for consumer goods. Despite a slow
recovery in the European and American markets in 2010, the
domestic consumption market has continued to grow. Competition
is rising for us as domestic private competitors develop. That said,
with more than 20 years of experience in the corrugated packaging
industry, sharp market acumen of our management team and
a solid and diversified customer network, we still managed to
increase our turnover by more than 50% year on year, reaching a
record high and demonstrating that the shift in business focus is
now fully implemented.

Rising demand for quality products from Mainland customers
play into our Group's long-held focus on high quality production
management and in developing high value added products, and
helped enhance our reputation and our competitiveness in the
industry. On the other hand, the increase in domestic sales have
offset the impact of Renminbi appreciation. Our razor sharp focus
on business planning, complemented by outstanding capability
in production planning have allowed us to expand our domestic
market share and our customer network in the year.

The Mainland consumption boom came at the same time as
inflationary pressures such as transportation costs, coal and labour
costs continued with their rapid ascent, creating new challenges
for managers. The Group's priorities were to improve capacity and
efficiency and reduce wastage. We have also linked production
and sales targets to our staff bonuses, reflecting our emphasis on
human resources efficiencies. Our staff are focusing on delivering
results and to share in the benefits, thus the increase in minimum
wages had no material effect on the Group's operations.

In terms of raw materials, the strategic business positioning in
recent years means the Group is now self-sufficient in general.
Our vertically integrated business model reduces the impact
of raw materials supply disruptions and price fluctuations and
improves overall production capacity. This also allows production
and logistics to be handled flexibly and effectively, delivering our
products to customers quickly and provides outstanding service to
our customers, improving the Group's competitiveness.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FERE

With the after-effects of the financial tsunami receding, the
domestic corrugated packaging industry is now consolidating
and the Group has obtained steady market share. We are looking
forward to reasonable price increases in the coming year to offset
the impact of inflation and to nudge the sector as a whole towards
high value added products. The Group will seek to entrench our
market share, increase our bargaining power in pricing and push
through cost increases to end customers, in order to stabilize our
profitability and returns.

Even as risks abound in the global economy and costs are
relentlessly rising, we still see enormous opportunities in the
China market from rising standards of living and buying power. We
have started to install a new corrugator in Qingyuan at the end of
2010, which is expected to start production in the second quarter
of 2011 to raise capacity by around 10%. We will continue to be
prudent and positive in our approach to develop our business,
seize new opportunities and embrace the challenging environment,
strengthen our management and competitiveness and strive for
better returns.

Last but not least | would like to take the opportunity to thank the
management and our staff for their hard work in the last year and
be grateful to the support from our customers, suppliers, bankers
and investors. We will strive to continue to bring long term and
satisfactory returns to our Group and our shareholders.

Hui Sum Kwok
Chairman
29th March, 2011
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MANARGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

E IR 51 5R I 53 i

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’'s long term plans to develop the domestic market
received a boost from the growth in domestic consumption in
2010, which offset the impact from a slow recovery in European
and American economies. Turnover from domestic sales jumped
90% year on year in 2010, to 54% of total sales, and export sales
rose by 27%. The fact that domestic sales now account for more
sales than exports show that we have delivered on our shift to the
domestic market and we are seeing encouraging results.

Selling prices rose by around 30% in the period although there
were fluctuations in between. Overall production volume rose
by around 20% via new customers (and hence a rise in orders)
as well as an increase in capacity from full contributions from
a new downstream production line built last year. Upstream
containerboard (corrugating medium and linerboard) and
downstream corrugated packaging (corrugated paper boards
and carton boxes) sales rose by 22% and 60%, respectively,
accounting for 11% and 89% of turnover. The strong sales meant
utilization came to 78% and 88% in the year, respectively.

The increase in waste paper prices pushed up prices for
corrugated packaging, relieving much of the pressure from raw
materials cost increases. However, the increase in other costs
such as transportation costs, coal, labour costs and other items
meant gross margin slightly fell by 0.9 percentage point. Increases
in minimum wages in several provinces put pressure on different
industries but the Group’s labour costs are now priced based on
individual productivity, so the impact of higher minimum wages
did not have a material impact on our costs.

The Group has continued to improve production flow, strengthen
quality inspection, reduce production wastage, adjust inventory
levels and tighten credit controls, resulting in bad debts levels that
remain close to zero. Our prudent financial policy means our debt
levels remain stable.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Operating results

In 2010, the Group recorded revenue of HK$1,428.9 million,
representing a surge by 54.7% from HK$923.4 million. The
average selling price and sales volume rose by around 32%
and 18% respectively, resulting from increase in demand from
economic recovery and Chinese domestic market. The full
year contributions from a downstream line (which commenced
production in September 2009) also led to the surge.

Cost of sales was increased in line with revenue by 56.5%, from
HK$746.4 million to HK$1,167.9 million. Gross profit rose by
47.5%, representing HK$84.1 million. There was a slight drop in
gross profit margin from 19.2% to 18.3%, mainly due to rising
production costs but fluctuating selling prices.

Other income rose by 31.3% from HK$14.7 million to HK$19.3
million. It was mainly due to increases in volume and selling prices
of scraps.

Selling and distribution costs climbed 123.8% from HK$36.2
million to HK$81.0 million. The sharp increase was primarily
attributable to rise in sales commission (owing to surge in
turnover), and rise in transportation cost (owing to increasing
number of delivery and rising oil prices).

Administrative expenses rose by 33.0% from HK$61.9 million
to HK$82.3 million. The increment was mainly contributed
by increase in salaries and higher insurance cost incurred for
providing protection to the group’s growing assets.

Other expenses fell by 23.0% from HK$20.4 million to HK$15.7
million. The drop was attributable to the reversal of the impairment
loss on trade receivables.

An increase in EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation
and amortization and changes in fair value of unsecured structured
borrowing and derivative financial instruments except net cash
inflow from settlement of derivative) by 27.2%, from HK$135.7
million to HK$172.6 million, was achieved on the back of business
growth.
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Finance cost jumped 99.1%, from HK$10.6 million to HK$21.1
million. Additional bank loans were raised to finance the technical
upgrades to upstream production lines in Qingyuan city. Besides,
no interest was capitalized to property, plant and equipment during
2010 (2009: HK$6.8 million).

Same as previous years, changes in fair value of unsecured
structured borrowing and derivative financial instruments (except
net cash inflow from settlement of derivative) were recognised
only for accounting purpose. They were non-cash in nature and
would be reversed to zero at maturity date. The contract for
unsecured structured borrowing was early terminated during the
year. No interest had ever been charged for it.

Profit from operation (profit for the year exclusive of changes
in fair value of unsecured structured borrowing and derivative
financial instruments except net cash inflow from settlement
of derivative) rose by 38.4% from HK$51.5 million to HK$71.3
million. The profit margin from operation fell slightly from 5.6% to
5.0%.

Profit for the year fell by 14.4% from HK$83.8 million to HK$71.7
million. It was mainly attributable to the great reversal of changes
in fair value of unsecured structured borrowing and derivative
financial instruments (except net cash inflow from settlement of
derivative) in 2009.

Profit margin for the year was 5.0%. Basic earnings per share
were 14.85 HK cents (2009: 17.35 HK cents). The Directors
proposed a final dividend of 3.40 HK cents per share (2009: 2.20
HK cents).
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Liquidity, financial and capital resources

At 31st December 2010, the Group's total cash and cash
equivalents were mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi. Bank balances and cash amounted to HK$203.1 million
(2009: HK$174.4 million). Net current assets and current ratio
of the Group were HK$19.5 million (2009: net current liabilities
HK$44.9 million) and 1.03 respectively (2009: 0.92).

The Group spent HK$90.4 million on capital expenditures for
making technical upgrades to upstream production lines and
acquiring new machines for downstream production.

Inventory turnover was slightly increased from 54 days to 61 days.
Two-month shipment was basically required for delivering waste
paper from Europe or United States to the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC").

At the balance sheet date, trust receipt loans fell by HK$14.1
million and bank advances rose by HK$67.7 million. The group
bought more local waste paper and less imported waste paper as
compared to 2009, leading to the change in loan structure. New
bank loans were raised for financing the capital expenditures,
indicating continuous support from principal bankers. The current
and non-current bank borrowings (including structured borrowing)
were up by HK$103.4 million and HK$17.0 million respectively.
Net gearing ratio (measured by total bank borrowings net of cash
to equity attributable to shareholders) was increased to 60.3%
(2009: 56.1%).

Contingent liabilities

A tax audit had been conducted by the Inland Revenue
Department in December 2004. The Inland Revenue Department
issued protective assessments for the years of assessment
1998/1999 to 2005/2006 to certain subsidiaries of the Group.
Objections have been filed against all these assessments. As the
tax audit was still in progress, in the opinion of the Directors, the
outcome and impact of this matter could not be determined with
reasonable certainty at this stage.
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PROSPECTS

The Group has successfully shifted its focus to the domestic
Chinese market, and saw solid performance growth with
domestic sales in the first two months of 2011 up by more than
20% compared to the same period of 2010 and overall sales
up by around 10%. This proves that the Group has built solid
foundations for developing the domestic market. The construction
of new downstream production line in Qingyuan will expand total
capacity by around 10% and allow the Group to further develop
the domestic market and expand our market share.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31st December, 2010, the Group and the processing
factory employed a total workforce of around 2,050 full time
staff (2009: 2,000). Competitive remuneration packages were
offered to employees. The Group may also grant share options
and discretionary bonuses to eligible employees based on the
performance of the Group and individuals.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Hui Sum Kwok, aged 51, is the chairman of the Board, an
executive Director of the Company and a co-founder of the Group.
Mr. Hui is responsible for the overall corporate planning, business
development and management of the Group. Mr. Hui has over 26
years of experience in the corrugated packaging industry in Hong
Kong and the PRC.

Mr. Hui Sum Kwok is a brother of Mr. Hui Sum Ping (vice chairman
of the Board, executive Director, and substantial shareholder of
the Company) and Mr. Hui Sum Tai (executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Company), and the spouse of Ms. Wong
Mui (deputy general manager of the Company). Mr. Hui did not
hold any other directorship in companies listed in Hong Kong or
overseas in the last 3 years.

Mr. Hui Sum Ping, aged 48, is the vice chairman of the Board,
an executive Director of the Company and a co-founder of the
Group. Mr. Hui is responsible for the business development of the
Group. Mr. Hui has over 26 years of experience in the corrugated
packaging industry in Hong Kong and the PRC.

Mr. Hui Sum Ping is a brother of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok (chairman
of the Board, executive Director, and substantial shareholder of
the Company), and Mr. Hui Sum Tai (executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Company). Mr. Hui did not hold any other
directorship in companies listed in Hong Kong or overseas in the
last 3 years.

Mr. Hui Sum Tai, aged 44, is the chief executive officer and
an executive Director of the Company. Mr. Hui has joined the
Group since its establishment and is responsible for the strategic
planning and day-to-day management of the Group. Mr. Hui has
over 24 years of experience in the corrugated packaging industry
in Hong Kong and the PRC.

Mr. Hui Sum Tai is a brother of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok (chairman of
the Board, executive Director, and substantial shareholder of the
Company) and Mr. Hui Sum Ping (vice chairman of the Board,
executive Director, and substantial shareholder of the Company).
Mr. Hui did not hold any other directorship in companies listed in
Hong Kong or overseas in the last 3 years.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Wong Wing Por, aged 49, is an executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Wong has joined the Group since its establishment
and is responsible for the sales, marketing and production
management of the Group. Mr. Wong has over 24 years of
experience in the corrugated packaging industry in Hong Kong and
the PRC.

Mr. Wong did not have any relationship with any Directors,
substantial shareholders and senior management of the Company.
Mr. Wong did not hold any other directorship in companies listed
in Hong Kong or overseas in the last 3 years.

Ms. Hui Yuen Li, aged 40, is an executive Director and the
company secretary of the Company. Ms. Hui is responsible for the
financial management of the Group. Ms. Hui is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ms. Hui worked in an international accounting firm
prior to joining the Group in May 1997

Ms. Hui obtained a Degree of Bachelor of Arts with Honours in
Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong in 1992. Ms.
Hui did not have any relationship with any Directors, substantial
shareholders and senior management of the Company. Ms. Hui
did not hold any other directorship in companies listed in Hong
Kong or overseas in the last 3 years.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric, aged 49, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 4th
September, 2003. Mr. Chee is a practising Certified Public
Accountant in Hong Kong and a senior partner of Chan Chee
Cheng & Co., a firm of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chee
had worked in two international accounting firms in Canada and
Hong Kong. Mr. Chee is an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario, Canada.

Mr. Chee obtained a Bachelor's Degree of Commerce (Accounting)
with Honours from Birmingham University in 1984. In addition to
his appointment to the Company, Mr. Chee is also an executive
director of Mastermind Capital Limited and used to be an
independent non-executive director of Viva China Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Coolpoint Energy Limited), both companies
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Chee
did not have any relationship with any Directors, substantial
shareholders and senior management of the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Yip Kwok Kwan, aged 61, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 15th July, 2010. Mr.
Yip has over 30 years of experience in investment, corporate
finance, financial advisory and business management. Mr. Yip has
a long track record of working with various financial institutions,
including UOB Asia (Hong Kong) Limited as a chief executive
officer, and DBS Asia Capital Ltd, Hong Kong, DBS Securities (Hong
Kong) Ltd., Hong Kong and First Chicago Hong Kong Limited as a
managing director.

Mr. Yip obtained a Degree of Bachelor of Business Administration
with Honours from the National University of Singapore (formerly
known as the University of Singapore) in 1971. In addition to his
appointment to the Company, Mr. Yip is also an independent
non-executive director of Powerwell Pacific Holdings Limited, a
company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr.
Yip did not have any relationship with any Directors, substantial
shareholders and senior management of the Company.

Mr.Wong Chu Leung, aged 63, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 15th September,
2004. Mr. Wong has over 26 years of experience in enterprise
management and manufacturing operation management. Mr.
Wong is a shareholder and a director of certain metal ware
and plastic ware manufacturing companies/corporations with
manufacturing plants located in the PRC.

Mr. Wong did not have any relationship with any Directors,
substantial shareholders and senior management of the Company.
Mr. Wong did not hold any other directorship in companies listed
in Hong Kong or overseas in the last 3 years.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wong Mui, aged 45, is the deputy general manager of
the Group. Ms. Wong has worked for the Group since its
establishment and is responsible for the general administration of
the Group. Ms. Wong is the spouse of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok (chairman
of the Board, executive Director and substantial shareholder of the
Company).

Mr. Tsui Yung Wai, aged 48, is the deputy general manager of the
Group. Mr. Tsui is responsible for the supervision of procurement,
logistics and human resources of the Group. Mr. Tsui has over
15 years of experience in corrugated packaging industry in Hong
Kong and the PRC. Prior to joining the Group in February 2008,
he was a shareholder and a director of a corrugated packaging
manufacturing company.

Mr. Tsui is a brother-in-law of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok (chairman of
the Board, executive Director, and substantial shareholder of
the Company), Mr. Hui Sum Ping (vice chairman of the Board,
executive Director and substantial shareholder of the Company)
and Mr. Hui Sum Tai (executive Director and chief executive officer
of the Company).

Ms. Wong Yuk Kwan, aged 39, is the senior accounting manager
of the Group. Ms. Wong is responsible for overseeing accounting
operations of the Group. Ms. \Wong obtained a Degree of Bachelor
of Business Administration majoring in accounting from the
University of Houston - Downtown in the US in 1994. Ms. Wong
worked in an international accounting firm prior to joining the
Group in May 2002.
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EXEBHRSE

The Board of Directors (“Board”) of the Company is pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s annual
report for the year ended 31st December, 2010.

The manner in which the principles and code provisions in the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “"CG Code")
contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the "“Listing Rules"”) are applied and implemented is
explained as follows:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY

The Group strives to maintain high standards of corporate
governance to enhance shareholder value and safeguard
shareholder interests. The Group's corporate governance principles
emphasize the importance of a quality Board, effective internal
controls and accountability to shareholders.

The Company acknowledges the important role of its Board in
providing effective leadership and direction to Company business,
and ensuring transparency and accountability of Company
operations.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the CG
Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, which sets
out the principles of good corporate governance and two levels of
corporate governance practices, as follows:

(a) Code provisions, which listed issuers are expected to
comply with or to give considered reasons for deviation;

(b) Recommended best practices for guidance only, which
listed issuers are encouraged to comply with or to give
considered reasons for deviation.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles code provisions as set out in the CG Code.

The Company has adopted various measures to ensure a high
standard of corporate governance and has put in place corporate
governance practices that are considered to be relevant to the
Group, to meet the code provisions as set out in the CG Code
contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.
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With the exception of code provisions A.2.1, A.4.2 and B.1.3 of the
CG Code, the Company has complied with all the code provisions
as set out in the CG Code throughout the year ended 31st
December, 2010.

The Company will periodically review and enhance its corporate
governance practices to ensure that these continue to meet the
requirements of the CG Code.

THE BOARD/BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance. The Board has delegated to the senior management
the authority and responsibility for the day-to-day management
and operation of the Group. In addition, the Board has established
Board committees and has delegated to these Board committees
various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference.

The Board provides leadership, approves policies, strategies and
plans, and oversees their implementation to further the healthy
growth of the Company in the interests of shareholders.

All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith, in
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations and have
acted in the interests of the Company and its shareholders at all
times.

Delegation of Management Functions

The Board undertakes responsibility for decision making in major
Company matters, including approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those
that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with
a view to ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable laws
and regulations are followed. Each Director is normally able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at
the Company’s expense, upon making request to the Board.
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The Board has delegated a schedule of responsibilities to the Chief
Executive Officer and senior management of the Company. These
responsibilities include implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and co-ordinating day-to-day operation and management
of the Company in accordance with the management strategies
and plans approved by the Board, formulating and monitoring the
operating and production plans and budgets, and supervising and
monitoring the control systems.

Board Composition
Membership of the Board is currently made up of 8 members in
total, with 5 executive Directors and 3 independent non-executive

Directors.

The Board of the Company comprises the following directors:

Executive Directors:

Hui Sum Kwok — Chairman

Hui Sum Ping — Vice-Chairman

Hui Sum Tai — Chief Executive Officer

Wong Wing Por

HuiYuen Li — Company Secretary and Member

of Remuneration Committee

Independent non-executive Directors:

Chee Man Sang, Eric - Chairman of Audit Committee and
Chairman of Remuneration Committee

Yip Kwok Kwan —  Member of Audit Committee

Wong Chu Leung —  Member of Audit Committee and

Member of Remuneration Committee

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time
pursuant to the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive
Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The relationships among the members of the Board are disclosed
under “Management Profile” on pages 11 to 14.

During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors
with at least one independent non-executive director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.
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The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his independence pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines as set out in the
Listing Rules.

The non-executive Directors bring a wide range of business and
financial expertise, experience and independent judgement to the
Board. Through active participation at Board meetings, taking the
lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of interests
and serving on Board committees, all non-executive Directors
have made various contributions to the effective direction of the
Company.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are laid down in the Company’s Articles of
Association. The Board as a whole is responsible for reviewing
Board composition, developing and formulating procedures
for nomination and appointment of Directors, monitoring the
appointment and succession planning of Directors and assessing
the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

All the independent non-executive Directors of the Company are
appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election.

In accordance with the Company's Articles of Association, all
Directors of the Company are subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years.

Code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code stipulates that all directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election by
shareholders at the first general meeting after their appointment.
The Company'’s Articles of Association deviate from Code Provision
A.4.2 of the CG Code which provides that any new Director
appointed by the Board during the year shall hold office until the
next following annual general meeting after appointment, when
he/she shall be eligible for re-election.

The Board reviews its own structure, size and composition
regularly to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Company.
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Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Board shall carry out the
selection process by making reference to the skills, experience,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments
of the proposed candidates, the Company's needs and other
relevant statutory requirements and regulations. An external
recruitment agency may be engaged to carry out the recruitment
and selection process where necessary.

Mr. Yip Kwok Kwan, having been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company during the year, shall retire and
being eligible, offer himself for re-election at the next forthcoming
annual general meeting pursuant to the Company's Article 86(3)
of the Articles of Association of the Company. In addition, Mr.
Hui Sum Kwok, Mr. Wong Wing Por and Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric
shall retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the next forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company'’s circular dated 15th April, 2011 contains detailed
information of the retiring Directors standing for re-election.

The Board recommended the re-appointment of the retiring
Directors at the next forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

Training Induction and Continuing Development of
Directors

Each newly appointed director receives formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his / her appointment
to ensure adequate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements. Such induction shall be supplemented by visits
to the Company's key plant sites and meetings with senior
management of the Company.

Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory
and regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities. Continuing briefing and
professional development for directors will be arranged where
necessary.
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Board Meetings
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

During the year ended 31st December, 2010, five Board meetings
were held at approximately quarterly intervals for reviewing
and approving the financial and operating performance, and
considering and approving the overall strategies and policies of the
Company. The attendance records of each Director at the meetings
of the Board, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee
during the year ended 31st December, 2010 are set out below:
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CEE RIS
Remuneration
Name of Directors Board Committee  Audit Committee
EEp Y EE® FHEES EREER
Hui Sum Kwok i 2 ) 5/5 n/a i A 2/3
Hui Sum Ping o 5/5 n/a i A 2/3
Hui Sum Tai s 2 o 5/5 n/a 1~ A 2/3
Wong Wing Por F &k 4/5 n/a 7~ i@ F 2/3
HuiYuen Li = 50 %] 5/5 2/2 3/3
Chee Man Sang, Eric R A 5/5 2/2 3/3
Wong Chu Leung BEUYS 5/5 2/2 3/3
Yip Kwok Kwan (Note 1) EE (K1) 2/2 n/a i A 2/2
Liu Kwok Fai, Alvan (Note 2) BB B (M 5E2) 2/3 n/a 5@ A Al
Notes: B RE
1. Mr. Yip Kwok Kwan was appointed as an independent non-executive 1. HEHYEER T TSF LA THAEZEABIIEHR
Director on 15th July, 2010. fTES -
2. Mr. Liu Kwok Fai, Alvan resigned as an independent non-executive 2. BEBAEN _Z-—ZF AT HABEE LIFRNTE
Director on 15th July, 2010. E
Practices and Conduct of Meetings EFEEHAREZEZENT
Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meetingare 2 @HERARGAEEEHERE —ReEELEN

normally made available to Directors in advance.

Notice of regular Board meetings is served to all Directors at
least 14 days before the meeting. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting to keep Directors apprised
of the latest developments and financial position of the Company
and to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and
each Director also have separate and independent access to the
senior management where necessary.

EEREM-

BROTHERNEIUROMAEESFEEESES
ZBH - ERNHEMEFERZBEER £ ﬁ"’E/FL
T TAERHM -

t/A§$EEu%%1Z§,\E§§ IJE’JSEIﬁﬁﬁﬁ§$
@%%Eﬁﬁ@$“ﬂ?%ﬁ?*@&%ﬂ(ﬁﬁ?ﬂ&ﬁ%%ﬁ
MBENBERATMEEAE REER BEEgLEME
ENAEBLBYMBEESAERE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERHE

The Chief Executive Officer and Company Secretary had attended
all regular Board meetings and where necessary, other Board
and committee meetings, to advise on business developments,
financial and accounting matters, statutory and regulatory
compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects of the
Company.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking and keeping
minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft
minutes are normally circulated to Directors for comment within a
reasonable time after each meeting and final versions are open for
Directors’ inspection.

According to current Board practice, any material transaction,
which involves a conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder
or a Director, will be considered and dealt with by the Board
at a duly convened Board meeting. The Company's Articles of
Association contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Hui Sum Kwok and the Chief
Executive Officer is Mr. Hui Sum Tai. The positions of Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer are held by separate persons in order to
preserve independence and a balance of views and judgment. The
Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective
functioning of the Board in accordance with good corporate
governance practice. The Chief Executive Officer focuses on
implementing objectives, policies and strategies approved and
delegated by the Board.

The Board of Directors considers that the responsibilities of the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer respectively are clear and
distinctive and no written terms on division of responsibilities
between Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are necessary.
This deviates from the Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code which
stipulates that the division of responsibilities between chairman
and chief executive officer should be established and set out in
writing.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established two committees, namely, the
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company's affairs. All Board committees
of the Company are established with defined written terms of
reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees are
available to shareholders upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors.

Board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company'’s expense.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, namely
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric (Chairman), Mr. Wong Chu Leung and
Ms. Hui Yuen Li, and the majority of them are independent non-
executive Directors.

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations on and approving the remuneration
policy and structure and remuneration packages of the executive
Directors. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible
for establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director
or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her
own remuneration, which remuneration will be determined by
reference to the performance of the individual and the Company
as well as market practice and conditions.

The Human Resources Department is responsible for collection
and administration of the human resources data and making
recommendations to the Remuneration Committee for
consideration. The Remuneration Committee consults with the
Chairman and/or the Chief Executive Officer of the Company about
these recommendations on remuneration policy and structure and
remuneration packages.

The Remuneration Committee met twice during the year ended
31st December, 2010 and reviewed the remuneration policy and
structure of the Company, and the remuneration packages as
well as the annual bonuses of the executive Directors for the year
under review. The attendance rate of the Remuneration Committee
Meeting was 100%.
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Meanwhile, the remuneration of the senior management of the
Company is not considered by the Remuneration Committee and
this deviates from the Code Provision B.1.3 of the CG Code.

Currently, the remuneration of the senior management is attended
by the Chairman and/or Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Audit Committee

Currently, the Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric
(Chairman), Mr. Yip Kwok Kwan and Mr. Wong Chu Leung (including
one independent non-executive Director with the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise). During the year ended 31st December,
2010, Mr. Liu Kwok Fai, Alvan resigned as an independent non-
executive Director and the Chairman of the Audit Committee. Mr.
Yip Kwok Kwan was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and a member of the Audit Committee, and Mr. Chee
Man Sang, Eric became the Chairman of the Audit Committee.

None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner
of the Company's existing external auditor.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

o to review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by the
staff responsible for the accounting and financial reporting
function, compliance officer, internal auditor or external
auditor before submission to the Board.

o to review the relationship with the external auditor by
reference to the work performed by the auditor, the fees
and terms of engagement, and make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of external auditor.

o to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended
31st December, 2010 to review the financial results and reports,
financial reporting and compliance procedures, the Company's
internal control and risk management systems and processes, and
the re-appointment of the external auditor. The attendance records
of the Audit Committee are set out under “Board Meetings” on
page 20.

The Company's annual results for the year ended 31st December,
2010 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct regarding
directors’ dealings in the Company's securities (The “Company's
Code"”) on terms no less exacting than the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
Company’'s Code and the Model Code throughout the year ended
31st December, 2010.

The Company has also established written guidelines on no
less exacting terms than the Model Code (the "Employees
Written Guidelines”) for securities transactions by employees
who are likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the
Employees Written Guidelines by the employees was noted by the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31st
December, 2010.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, price-
sensitive announcements and other disclosures required under
the Listing Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements.
The Management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements,
which are put to the Board for approval. The Board has received
from the senior management the management accounts and such
accompanying explanation and information as are necessary to
enable the Board to make an informed assessment for approving
the financial statements.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S
REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the financial statements is set out in
the “Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 46 to 47.

During the year under review, the remuneration payable to the
Company's external auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, is set out
below:

S BS B BURD K 2 BB 2 B &

AARSINEZBMEBERRYBRR2EEZR
AN FI6E4TA B L ZEBE RS A -

REBFA  AABENINSZBENEE e BEEMRT
SERITTZM ST

Category of services Fee payable
R #% & 38 EAER
HK$
T
Audit services ¥ 8 IR 7S 1,550,000
Non-audit services e B R 7S

- Preliminary review _ S EY 20,000
— Compliance review _ABEY 118,000
1,688,000

INTERNAL CONTROLS A B BE

The Board conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal
control system of the Group for the year ended 31st December,
2010. The review covered the financial, operational, compliance
and risk management aspects of the Group including the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget.

The Board has overall responsibility for the internal control system
of the Company and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board
maintains an adequate internal control system to safeguard the
interests of the shareholders and the assets of the Company.
The Audit Committee oversees the internal control system of the
Group, reports to the Board on any material issues and makes
recommendations.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance
of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information,
which will enable shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide the best
opportunity for exchange of views between the Board and the
shareholders. The Chairman of the Board as well as Chairmen of
the Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee or, in their
absence, other members of the respective committees and, where
applicable, the chairman of the independent Board committee, are
normally available to attend the annual general meeting and other
relevant shareholder meetings.

The 2010 Annual General Meeting ("AGM") was held on 7th June,
2010. The notice of AGM was sent to shareholders at least 20 clear
business days before the AGM.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a
website at www.hopfunggroup.com, where up-to-date extensive
information and updates on the Company's business operations
and developments, financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are available for public access.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at shareholder
meetings, including the election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange after each shareholder meeting.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31st December, 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2010
are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income on page 48.

An interim dividend of 1.00 HK cent per share, amounting to
approximately HK$4,829,000 was calculated by reference to
482,924,000 shares in issue on 15th October, 2010 and was paid
to the shareholders of the Company on 22nd October, 2010.

The Directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend
of 3.40 HK cents per share to the shareholders of the Company
whose names appear on the register of members on 23rd May,
2011.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the years from 2006 to 2010 is set out on page 124.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the

Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 24
to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES

Details of the movement in the share premium and reserves of the
Group during the year, are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 50.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hui Sum Kwok, Chairman

Mr. Hui Sum Ping, Vice Chairman

Mr. Hui Sum Tai, Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Wong Wing Por

Ms. HuiYuen Li

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric

Mr. Yip Kwok Kwan (appointed on 15th July, 2010)
Mr. Wong Chu Leung

Mr. Liu Kwok Fai, Alvan (resigned on 15th July, 2010)

Mr. Yip Kwok Kwan, was appointed by the board of Directors
as a new independent non-executive Director with effect from
15th July, 2010. Mr. Yip Kwok Kwan will hold directorship until
14th September, 2011 and thereafter the appointment will be
renewed for a term of one year from 15th September, 2011 to 14th
September, 2012.

In accordance with Articles 86(3) and 87(1) of the Company’s
Articles of Association, Mr. Hui Sum Kwok, Mr. Wong Wing Por,
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric and Mr. Yip Kwok Kwan shall retire from
office by rotation in the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of two years commencing
15th September, 2010, which may be terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party.

Save as disclosed above, no Director proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to the Rules governing the listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited “the Listing Rules” The
Company considers all the independent non-executive Directors
are independent.

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management
of the Company are set out in Management Profile on pages 11 to
14 of this report.

SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the Company's share option scheme are set out in
note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share
options during the year:

EE5)
AATCEEEBY N TESRETARATS
FAERATES AR MR DRE BT
EHY EERRAE - AATRE  2EBTIENTE
EHEBIAL -

AR EBENEREEERBEABINAFHREN
ZUEEHEERE -

B
RAREEAETE 2 FBRNGE M HRRME26 -

TERBREADTBRERNE N2 2

Outstanding
Outstanding Granted Exercised Cancelled atend of
Exercisable at beginning during during during the year
Category Option type Date of grant price of the year the year the year the year R
£5l EREER REAH i3 ENERAE EREH ERff ERiH BT
(Note 1) HKS
GiEd)) AT
Directors
gz
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok (Note 2) D 2952007 2.640 1,893,000 - - - 1,893,000
FRALL () £ 772009 0752 4,828,000 - - - 4,828,000
Mr. Hui Sum Ping D 29.5.2007 2.640 1,893,000 - - - 1,893,000
SRTEE E 772009 0.752 4,828,000 - - - 4,828,000
Mr. Hui Sum Tai D 2952007 2.640 3,678,360 - - - 3,678,360
FhEtt E 772009 0752 4,828,000 - - - 4,828,000
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued) BIREz)
Outstanding
Outstanding Granted Exercised Cancelled atend of
Exercisable at beginning during during during the year
Category Option type Date of grant price of the year the year the year the year g%
£5l EREER REAH kg EQWATE EREH ERff ERiH BT
(Note 1) HK$
() AT
Directors
gz
Mr. Wong Wing Por D 295.2007 2640 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000
IRREE E 772009 0752 4,828,000 - - - 4,828,000
Ms. Hui Yuen Li D 2952007 2.640 1,100,000 - - - 1,100,000
FEFLL E 772009 0752 1,100,000 - - - 1,100,000
Mr. Liu Kwok Fai, Alvan (Note 3) D 295.2007 2640 120,000 - - - 120,000
BEBTE (M) E 772009 0752 120,000 - - - 120,000
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric D 29.5.2007 2640 120,000 - - - 120,000
HREEE E 772009 0.752 120,000 - - - 120,000
Mr.Wong Chu Leung D 295.2007 2.640 120,000 - - - 120,000
Ehnit E 772009 0752 120,000 - - - 120,000
31,196,360 - - - 31,196,360
Other employees D 29.5.2007 2640 7950,000 - - - 7950,000
HibEE E 772009 0.752 9,228,000 - - - 9,228,000
17178,000 - - - 17178,000

Total all categories
2HER &R 48,374,360 - - - 48,374,360
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Notes:

1

The vesting period of the share options granted is determined by Directors
at each time when the options are granted. Holders of share options
granted under the Company'’s share option scheme may only exercise their
options during the exercisable periods as follows:

Option type D Option type E

B

MEaE
T BREBREZEBHAEEXNESARHBEREREE - A

RABRE B TRERESA AEBARATITERITER
SRR

Maximum % of share options exercisable

DE B R EEBRE ATEEBREZREEI
1.3.2008 - 28.2.2009 1.5.2010 - 30.4.2011 up to 50%
&= ] #E50%

1.3.2009 - 28.2.2010 1.6.2011 - 30.4.2012

1.3.2010 - 28.2.2011 1.6.2012 - 30.4.2013

Out of the 1,893,000 type D share options and 4,828,000 type E share
options granted, Mr. Hui Sum Kwok was directly interested in 1,393,000
type D share options and 4,328,000 type E share options and was deemed
to be interested in 500,000 type D share options and 500,000 type E
share options respectively owned by Ms. Wong Mui, who is the spouse of
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok and a member of the senior management of the Group.

Mr. Liu Kwok Fai, Alvan, resigned as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 15th July, 2010.

At 31st December, 2010, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the
Scheme was 48,374,360, representing approximately 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue at that date.

up to 75% (to the extent not already exercised)

Rim AlE75% (SAM ARITRH RBIR)

up to 100% (to the extent not already exercised)
B AlE100% (A RITEE RR)

2. RB#IH 21,893,000 D1E i ik 1 & 4,828,000 7 ELE ik
MR FF AR B %t A 141,393,000 19 DAE B A% #E 1% 4,328,0001%
EEEREPHEAEERER  UHREARERLZLGIHRE
FEZEBRASEERATEENKE) S BI# A 2500000
1) DJA & A& 7 2 500,000 EXAfE IR R 35 A AR 2k ©

3. BEEBLEER - E-EF+A+ARBRAALAZEY
FEHITES -

R-ZE—ZFFF+_A=+—8 RBEZFEEREM

W ARITE SRS K 2 I BB 548,374,360/% ¢+ 4

HAREE BEETRMI0O% -
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at 31st December, 2010, the interests
and/or short positions of the Directors and their associates in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations within the meaning of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFQ"), as recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers,
were as follows:

EERKRD HEROKRES 2ER

BrREXEREN RZE—ZTFF+_A=1+—0 &
BARAIRBZESMNPEERMN(TESRLEBEEEN])
FIRG 2R TEETF 2 Z M ATacér - skiRE 8
TAESHETESRHINEFEETAENEARA R
EBEBERSIABRAR(BRME EFRE
E7HMBAIRARAIREBBEZBE(TEEABZSFR
HEGRA)Z2BD - BEROMRESFFEECERER
SRR MT

(a)  Shares (a) K&©H
Approximate
Company / percentage of
Name of associated Number and issued share capital
Name of Director corporation Capacity class of securities EERORA
Ezft4 ARR/REEEEE 5% E5HERE BOA
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Company Founder of a discretionary 252,000,000 shares 52.18%
SRELE YN trust /interest of controlled Long position (Note 1}
corporations 252,000,008 %t {3
RRETEITA/ Fah)
REEEER
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Company Beneficial owner 10,128,000 shares 210%
FREALE YN ExhEA Long position
10,128 000 & (3
e
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Company Interest of spouse 500,000 shares 0.10%
SRELE YN LB Es Long position
500,000% %13
2
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Company Founder of a discretionary 252,000,000 shares 52.18%
SRTRE VNS trust / interest of controlled Long position (Note 1}
corporations 252,000,008 {3
RREETETA/ Fai)

REEEER
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, EENRE  HERORELS IS
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES (#)
(continued)
(a)  Shares (continued) (a) Rt
Approximate
Company / percentage of
Name of associated Number and issued share capital
Name of Director corporation Capacity class of securities EERORA
ESps ARR/REEEER 5% B5HERE BAOBEAN
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Company Beneficial owner 7894,000 shares 1.63%
TRERE YN ExhEA Long position
7894, 0008 f: 3
e
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Company Interest of a controlled Nil (Note 1) -
FRERE YN corporation (W)
RREER
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Company Beneficial owner 6,246,000 shares 1.29%
TRRRE KA ExhEA Long position
6,246,000 & %17
e
S
EY
Mr.Wong Wing Por Company Founder of a discretionary Nil (Note 1) - § o
IRREE YN trust /interest of controlled & () 8 E
corporations w
SRERAIA/ 3
3 z &
S anl
o
Mr. Wong Wing Por Company Beneficial owner 6,020,000 shares 125% O
IREE N ERHAA Long position 2
6,020 000% 3 z
555 )
Ms. Hui Yuen Li Company Beneficial owner 3,670,000 shares 0.76%
FRARL KA ExhEA Long position
3,670,0008 &% 3

i
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=FEHE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, EERNRYD HERORESZESR

UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES (#)
(continued)
(a)  Shares (continued) (a) K&
Approximate
Company / percentage of
Name of associated Number and issued share capital
Name of Director corporation Capacity class of securities EERARA
i3] ARR/REEEEE 5% E5HERE BOAS
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric Company Beneficial owner 96,000 Shares 0.02%
BRERE YN ExhEA Long position
96,000 iR 3
e
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Hop Fung Industries Limited Founder of a discretionary 7886 shares of US$0.01 each 7886%
SRAEE (“Hop Fung Industries”| trust / interest of controlled Long position (Notes 1 and 2)
corporations 1836 REBOOETL L R
RREETETA/ Fai k)
REEEER
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Hop Fung Industries Founder of a discretionary 7886 shares of US$0.01 each 78.86%
SRTEE trust /interest of controlled Long position (Notes 1 and 2)
corporations 1836 REBOOET R
RREETEITA/ Fai k)
REEEER
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Hop Fung Industries Beneficial owner 857 shares of US$0.01 each 8.57%
REC ExhEA Long position (Notes 1 and 2
STRERAB0ONET 2t
Fai k)
Mr. Wong Wing Por Hop Fung Industries Founder of a discretionary 1,257 shares of US$0.01 each 12.57%
IRREE trust / interest of a controlled Long position (Notes 1 and 2)

corporation
RiEfRELL/
ZREEER

157 ERABOOETZ KA
7a(HF1R2)



DIRECTORS' REPORT
- y—N
EEBHRS
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, ZEENK @ - HERAORE 52 R =
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES ()
(continued)
(a)  Shares (continued) (a) K&
Approximate
Company / percentage of
Name of associated Number and issued share capital
Name of Director corporation Capacity class of securities EERORA
ESp? A0F/HBEEEE 8% E5HARE BAOBEAN
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Hop Fung Industries Beneficial owner / founder 5,000 shares of US$0.01 each 50%
SRAEE (Holdings) Limited of adiscretionary trust/ Long position (Notes 1 and 3)
(*Hop Fung Industries BVI") interest of a controlled 50008 SREEONETZRR
corporation FE (1R
EREAN/
RRERETL/
REEEER
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Hop Fung Industries BVI Beneficial owner / founder 5,000 shares of US$0.01 each 50%
SRTEE of adiscretionary trust/ Long position (Notes 1 and 3)
interest of a controlled 50008 SREECONETZRA
corporation FE (1R
EREAN/
SEBRHLA/ 2%
REEEER § =
w T
O ex
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok (Gong Ming Hop Fung Interest of controlled 3,000,000 non-voting 100% g E
TRERE Paper Ware Factory Limited corporations deferred shares of HK$1 each )
(“Hop Fung GM") QBEEER Long and short positions by gﬁ
DARESRRERLA Notes 1 and 4] 3@
(1AE28)) 300000% SRR b
187 EREREER 2
FRRAE(HEIRY) z
2
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Hop Fung GM Founder of a discretionary 3,000,000 non-voting 100%
SRTEE AELH trust /interest of controlled deferred shares of HK$1 each
corporations Long and short positions
2EERETA/ Notes 1 and 4)
REEEER 3000000R 5 RERE
BT ERERERR
F8 Roxe (M1 Ra)
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=FEHE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, EERNRYD HERORESZESR

UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES (#)
(continued)
(a)  Shares (continued) (a) B®B&E)
Approximate
Company / percentage of
Name of associated Number and issued share capital
Name of Director corporation Capacity class of securities EERORA
Esps ARR/REEEEE 5% E5HERE BAOBEAN
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Hop Fung GM Interest of a controlled Nil (Notes 1and 4) -
TRRRE AELH corporation / short E(MH1Re)
position of a controlled
corporation
REEEER/
REZENE
Mr. Wong Wing Por Hop Fung GM Interest of a controlled Nil {Notes 1 and 4) -
IRREE RELE corporation & (M R)
REEEER
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Fung Kong Hop Fung Interest of controlled 3,000,000 non-voting 100%
TRERE Paper Ware Factory Limited corporations deferred shares of HK$1 each
(*Hop Fung FG") QBEEES Long and short positions
BHAEARRERAT [Notes 1,4 and 5)
([28B&E) 3,000000% BRERE
BT BRERELR
FERKE (Wi 4R5)
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Hop Fung FG Founder of a discretionary 3,000,000 non-voting 100%
SRTEE 22EH trust / interest of controlled deferred shares of HK$1 each
corporations Long and short positions
RiEfERELL/ (Notes 1, 4 and 5
ZEEEER 3000000R G RERE
BT BRERELR

FERAR (M 4R5)



DIRECTORS' RELORT
=) ==
EFBRES
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, EENRE  HERORELS IS
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES (#)
(continued)
(a)  Shares (continued) (a) Rt
Approximate
Company / percentage of
Name of associated Number and issued share capital
Name of Director corporation Capacity class of securities EERORA
ESps A0F/HBEEEE 8% E5HARE BAOBEAN
Mr. Hui Sum Tai Hop Fung FG Interest of a controlled Nil {Notes 1, 4 and 5) -
TRRRE AEREH corporation / short B (i1 4}5)
position of a controlled
corporation
REREES/
REZENE
Mr.Wong Wing Por Hop Fung FG Interest of a controlled Nil {Notes 1, 4 and 5) -
IRREE AEREH corporation / short B(Hi1 4}5) 37
position of a controlled
corporation
REEEES/
T E KA
XT:/f/ME e @
EX
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Applewood Forest Limited Founder of a discretionary trust 1 share of US$1 100% § o
HEFE REERETA Long position (Notes 1 and 6) ] E
IREEIETZRH Z
8 (11 56) 3
T #
. ‘ . . S =
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Profit Luck Limited Founder of a discretionary trust 100 shares of HKS1 0% © qo
SRERE HRERAR EEHEILA Long position (Notes 1, 6and 7) o
100R S RAEIBT 2R .
78 (M1 6R7) 2
5
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Profit Sun Limited Founder of a discretionary trust 1 share of HK$1 100%
TRERE BRERAR REEHEILA Long position (Notes 1,6, 7 and §)
\REEIBT R

R (6 TRS)




ANNUAL REPORT 2010

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
=FEHE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(continued)

(a)

Shares (continued)

Notes:

1.

The 252,000,000 shares are owned by Hop Fung Industries.
The issued share capital of Hop Fung Industries is owned
as to 78.86%, 12.57% and 8.57% by Hop Fung Industries
BVI, Delight Ocean Limited (“Delight”) and Mr. Hui Sum Tai
respectively.

The issued share capital of Hop Fung Industries BVI is owned
as to 11.81%, 11.81%, 38.19% and 38.19% by Mr. Hui
Sum Kwok, Mr. Hui Sum Ping, Fullwood Holdings Limited
("Fullwood”) and Goldspeed Holdings Limited (“Goldspeed”)
respectively. Fullwood is wholly owned by Pinecity
Investments Limited (“Pinecity”) and Pinecity is wholly owned
by HSBC International Trustee Limited (“HSBC") in its capacity
as the trustee of Hui & Wong 2004 Family Trust, a discretionary
trust the founder of which is Mr. Hui Sum Kwok and the
discretionary objects of which include family members of
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok. Goldspeed is wholly owned by Goldkeen
Assets Management Limited (“Goldkeen”) and Goldkeen is
wholly owned by HSBC in its capacity as the trustee of HSP
2004 Family Trust, a discretionary trust the founder of which
is Mr. Hui Sum Ping and the discretionary objects of which
include family members of Mr. Hui Sum Ping. Accordingly,
each of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok and Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed to
be interested in the 252,000,000 shares under the SFO.

Delight is wholly owned by Richfaith Assets Management
Limited (“Richfaith”) and Richfaith is wholly owned by HSBC
in its capacity as the trustee of Wong's 2004 Family Trust, a
discretionary trust the founder of which is Mr. Wong Wing Por
and the discretionary objects of which include family members
of Mr. Wong Wing Por.

Hop Fung Industries is a holding company of the Company and
therefore an associated corporation of the Company under the
SFO. The entire issued share capital of Hop Fung Industries
is US$100 divided into 10,000 shares of US$0.01 each which
is owned as to 7,886, 1,257 and 857 shares by Hop Fung
Industries BVI, Delight and Mr. Hui Sum Tai respectively. Under
the SFO, each of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok and Mr. Hui Sum Ping is
deemed to be interested in the 7886 shares of US$0.01 each
and Mr. Wong Wing Por is deemed to be interested in the 1,257
shares of US$0.01 each in Hop Fung Industries.

Hop Fung Industries BVI is a holding company of Hop Fung
Industries and therefore an associated corporation of the
Company under the SFO. The entire issued share capital of
Hop Fung Industries BVI is US$100 divided into 10,000 shares
of US$0.01 each which is owned as to 1,181, 1,181, 3,819
and 3,819 shares by Mr. Hui Sum Kwok, Mr. Hui Sum Ping,
Fullwood and Goldspeed respectively. Under the SFO, each of
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok and Mr. Hui Sum Ping is interested and/or
deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 5,000 shares of
US$0.01 each in Hop Fung Industries BVI.

EERKRD  HEROKES 2ER

(%)

(a)

IR A ()

MiEE

1.

% 252,000,000 f& A% 17 EaHop Fung Industries
# A ° Hop Fung Industries % 77 I A< 2 5l
Hop Fung Industries BVI ~ Delight Ocean Limited
([Delight)) R AR F K £ HH78.86% * 12.57%
K8.57% °

Hop Fung Industries BVIZ B 2 17 I8 & 9 5l &1
FTARE LA - P& F 58 &£ - Fullwood Holdings
Limited ([Fullwood]) K Goldspeed Holdings
Limited ([ Goldspeed]) # & 11.81% - 11.81% *
38.19% % 38.19% ° FullwoodFPinecity
Investments Limited ([Pinecity |) 2 & # A& M
PinecityBHSBC International Trustee Limited
(THSBC.) BAHui & Wong 2004 Family Trust¥ %
AZEDZEERA ZETAR—HEEES
HESABHRELE  2RETHRBEN
FE L E 2 RIRAK B ° Goldspeedi Goldkeen
Assets Management Limited ([ Goldkeen|) & &
# A MGoldkeenfIHSBCLAHSP 2004 Family
Tust2EAZ G N 2 EHE ~ZfEtA—AR
EiET HAZARTHRTEXE  2HEFY
SEETRTFAEZREKE - Bt - IREFE
FREBEGY FTRETERTRFIEESE
Wi AR ¥ 5 7%2252,000,000A% R 19 2 #E % ©

Delight|#Richfaith Assets Management Limited
(TRichfaith|) 2 & ¥ A& - MRichfaithlIHSBCIA
Wong' s 2004 Family Trust¥ sEA Z 5D 2 &
BoZfER—HEREE HAVUARIZ
BEE  2REAHRBBIRREEZRIE

Hop Fung IndustriesJy AN A @] Z 2R A7) - E
BEFEHFRBAEGRY  BARRZ B LR -
Hop Fung Industriesz & &6 B 2 17 % 7 A 1003%
JL 9 /310,000 FIREE0.01E T2 KR - 5
Al FfHop Fung Industries BVI + Delight® #F % =
S 7886 - 1,257 %857 /% - IRIEF FH K H
B0 HRERERTRTFEEDWE A
AHop Fung Industries 7886 % & % E {80.01% 7T
B 2 #E2E - M T 4808 % £ B4 48 & i B Hop
Fung Industries 1,257 % & A% M {8 0.01 3 7T & 19
i o

Hop Fung Industries BVIJ5Hop Fung IndustriesZ
ZERAE ARREZHFRBEGRN  BXRQ
7) 2 8B % @ ° Hop Fung Industries BVIZ & #f
BBITIRZAR100% 7T » 5 410,000 & iR @&
0OTETZRM  DAIBFRELE  FRT
%64~ Fullwood & Goldspeedi# A 1,181 + 1,181 »
3,819%3,819/% - IRIFEFEH K BE KA - TR
REERARTEREDEE R, RBERAES
Hop Fung Industries BVI& 2k 5,000 f% & % m &
0.01ETRH 2 % »
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(continued)

(a) Shares (continued)

Notes:(continued)

4.

Hop Fung GM is a subsidiary of the Company and therefore
an associated corporation of the Company under the SFO. The
entire issued share capital of Hop Fung GM is HK$3,000,100
divided into 100 ordinary shares of HK$1 each and 3,000,000
non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each. The 3,000,000 non-
voting deferred shares of HK$1 each in Hop Fung GM are
beneficially owned by Hop Fung Group (HK) Limited (“Hop
Fung Group HK") which is owned as to 78.86%, 12.57% and
8.57% by Hop Fung Holdings Limited (“Hop Fung Holdings
(BVI)"), Mr. Wong Wing Por and Mr. Hui Sum Tai respectively.

The issued share capital of Hop Fung Holdings (BVI) is owned
as to 50%, 11.81% and 38.19% by Mr. Hui Sum Kwok, Mr. Hui
Sum Ping and Goldspeed respectively. Under the SFO, each
of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok and Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed to
be interested in the 3,000,000 non-voting deferred shares of
HK$1 each in Hop Fung GM.

Pursuant to an option deed dated 19th August, 2003, Hop
Fung Group HK and its nominee granted to Hop Fung Group
Company Limited (“Hop Fung Group (BVI)"), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, an option to purchase from them
such 3,000,000 non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each in
Hop Fung GM. Accordingly, each of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok and
Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed to have a short position in the
underlying shares of the option granted under the option deed
pursuant to the SFO.

Hop Fung FG is a subsidiary of the Company and therefore an
associated corporation of the Company under the SFO. The
entire issued share capital of Hop Fung FG is HK$3,000,100
divided into 100 ordinary shares of HK$1 each and 3,000,000
non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each. The 3,000,000
non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each in Hop Fung FG are
beneficially owned by Hop Fung Group HK. Under the SFO,
each of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok and Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed to
be interested in the 3,000,000 non-voting deferred shares of
HK$1 each in Hop Fung FG.

Pursuant to an option deed dated 19th August, 2003, Hop Fung
Group HK and its nominee granted to Hop Fung Group (BVI)
an option to purchase from them such 3,000,000 non-voting
deferred shares of HK$1 each in Hop Fung FG. Accordingly,
each of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok and Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed
to have a short position in the underlying shares of the option
granted under the option deed pursuant to the SFO.

EERKRD  HEROKES 2ER

(%)

(a) Kt3#)

MiE (&)

4.

AERNBEIHARBZHBEAR A RIEES
REIEGE - BAQR ZBHEE - & 2 RH
2 & E B # 7R A 43,000,100 7T+ 9 A 100
fi% & % H B 178 7T 2 & i@ AR &% 3,000,000 A% & %
HEE1E T2 R ZERIETR - 53,000,000 8%
BREEBIBTZALEAPAERZEETKRSA
AUEBE(EBBRAATALEEFE]
BEnfA  mMAaL%ESE B A5 5 fBHop Fung
Holdings Limited ([Hop Fung Holdings (BVI)J)) *
FRBFEERTRR G EHEEFTS.86% * 12.57%
5857% °

Hop Fung Holdings (BVI)Z B 8 17 B& 2~ 9 Bl F 7F
FRE L& - FF R F L A& MGoldspeed# B50% -
11.81%538.19% ° RIE & H R B E 1&H - &
HAEERTRTFLEHIWERBEREAL AR
3,000,000 ERHEEIB TERERETCRK 2
S o

REBHAE-_ZTT=FNA+LBZERE
g AEEEFERERBARARFAZE
& Mt B A "]Hop Fung Group Company Limited
(THop Fung Group (BVI) ) % £ B8 B2 # » LA ) 1%
Z B E3,000,000 EFREEIETZAEENH
EIRERRER - At - RIBESH RBAERD
HREAERTRFAELIWRABERRER
AR M 225 P i D BB AR A R 2 FRRARR 1D 2 A B o

EEREIARRZHMBLR  BALRIEES
LREERG  BARARZHEEEZE - A LB M
2 & E B %77 B AN A3,000,1007% 7T 9 A 100
fi&% & A% M {8178 7T 2 % 38 A% £ 3,000,000 A% & A%
EE 18 T 2 Ji8 R E TR - 7%3,000,000 %
SREENSIZALEMEREZRELKA
CLEEEAREAR REZFHFRIEK
Bl  AHRBEEERTRFEEORERER
3,000,000 BHREBEIBTZA LR HERSE
TR 2 2 o

BEABA-_TST=FNATLAZERE
i 5LEEFSRERSE A MHop Fung
Group (BVN#% - BE AR 4% - LA 1% 55 B 3,000,000
BREROEIETZE LR EERZERTER -
Eit  REBEFSFRAEED  FHRE KL E KT
REPEENHEREARBEBREZEMRLE
BRESR ZAEBRGNZAE -

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

BEEEERERAS
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(continued)
(a)  Shares (continued)

Notes:(continued)

6. Applewood Forest Limited (“Applewood”) is a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The entire issued
share capital of Applewood is US$1 comprising 1 share of
US$1 which is wholly owned by Pinecity and is ultimately
owned by HSBC in its capacity as the trustee of Hui & Wong
2004 Family Trust. Applewood is an associated corporation of
the Company under the SFO. Under the SFO, Mr. Hui Sum
Kwok is deemed to be interested in the 1 share of US$1 in
Applewood.

7 Profit Luck Limited (“PLL") is a company incorporated in
Hong Kong. The entire issued share capital of PLL is HK$100
comprising 100 shares of HK$1 each which is indirectly owned
by HSBC through its wholly owned subsidiary, Applewood.
Under the SFO, Mr. Hui Sum Kwok is deemed to be interested
in the 100 shares of HK$1 in PLL ultimately owned by HSBC
in its capacity as the trustee of Hui & Wong 2004 Family Trust.
Details of Applewood are set out in note 6 above.

8. Profit Sun Limited (“PSL’) is a company incorporated in
Hong Kong. The entire issued share capital of PSL is HK$1
comprising 1 share of HK$1 which is indirectly owned by HSBC
through its wholly owned subsidiary, Applewood. Under the
SFO, Mr. Hui Sum Kwok is deemed to be interested in the 1
share of HK$1 in PSL ultimately owned by HSBC in its capacity
as the trustee of Hui & Wong 2004 Family Trust. Details of
Applewood are set out in note 6 above.

(b) Share options

Details of the Directors' and their associates’ interests in
share options of the Company are set out in the Section
headed “Share Options” in this report.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as at 31st December, 2010.

EERRG HERORESF2ER
(%)

(a) Kt3#)

MiE (&)

6. Applewood Forest Limited ([ Applewood|) J5 7
W Z BB MK L 2 A ] o ApplewoodZ
EWEFTRARIET  EE1REETIET
Z B o Z BB 1D FPinecity2 B A - mRE
fi% ## R AHSBCLAHuUI & Wong 2004 Family Trust
XRAAZEDHEB - RBEEFRPER -
Applewood® A R A] Z HHEf A E - BREFESH K&
HE RO - 5T AR 5t A& H AR /8 B Applewood 1
REEIETRG ZEes o

7 MEARAR(FE) DREAFMRLZ A
Alo MRz E2HERITRARI0BIT 57
100 SR EE1STZG  AHSBCE B H
2 & U B 2 BlApplewood® E B - 1R B & H
K HBE 5 - 3 7R B St 4 W48 B B AHSBCIA
Hui & Wong 2004 Family Trust® 3t A & 1) & &
WA ZME0ORSREEIS TG 2 #EE -
Applewood .z 5 18 & 74 £ 3C K1 5E6 ©

8. BFRBERARERN]DIRESTMEALZA
Ale BAIZE2HDBHITRABIATL  HAH1K
FREEIVETZRY - AHSBCEBE &AM
B A FlApplewood M Z A < RIEFS L E K
Bl - 3 FRE St A 4548 A AHSBCLAHUI & Wong
2004 Family Trust 5t A & D & X B 2 BEF)1
fi& & M (B 1738 7T R 10 2 #E %% ° ApplewoodZ &
B LS e o

(b) FEME

EERREZHBALR AR A BEREZE
mABEHN EXBRE & -

BEXHBESN R-F-FTET-A=+-0 #
FREE 2B RATHEENRD TR TR
B2 0 15~ 40O AR 15 =% 18 3% o0 i 45 E 1 4 25 o

NN
KB o
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=FEHE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERE

RIZE-ZF+ _A=1+—H A2AREBEEFK
HEGRPIFEBBKREFZIEZRRAMATR - ATHR
REAMEARARAIREFAARR D HITHRA 2R

As at 31st December, 2010, the register of substantial
shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO shows that the following shareholders had notified the

Company of relevant interests and short positions in the issued fEzm N&AE :
share capital of the Company:
Approximate
percentage of
Number of issued share capital
Name of shareholder Capacity issued shares held Note(s) HERTRA
BRRER/HE £ FECBRTRAHEA (5 BHEA
Hop Fung Industries Beneficial owner 252,000,000 1 52.18%
ExHAA
Hop Fung Industries BVI Interest of a controlled corporation 252,000,000 1,2 52.18%
REEERER
Fullwood Interest of controlled corporations 252,000,000 1,2,3,4 52.18%
REEERER
Pinecity Interest of controlled corporations 252,000,000 1,234 52.18%
REEERER
Goldspeed Interest of controlled corporations 252,000,000 1,2,3,5 52.18% e m
RELERR EX
Em
Goldkeen Interest of controlled corporations 252,000,000 1,2,35 5218% & g
el E Z 5
)
HSBC Trustee of discretionary trust 252,000,000 1,2,3,4,5 52.18% f gﬁ
%*‘Eﬁﬁi‘ﬁ}\ é @
(V)
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok Beneficial owner / founder of a 262,628,000 1,2,3,4,6 54.38% ©
FHRETE discretionary trust / interest of s
controlled corporations / interest of 8
spouse S
Eala A/ 2RETETA/
THERER /BB ER
Mr. Hui Sum Ping Beneficial owner / founder of a 259,894,000 1,2,3,57 53.82%
FHRYERAE discretionary trust / interest of
controlled corporations
Ealia A/ 2RETECA/
XEEEER
Hallgain Management Interest of controlled corporations 62,784,000 8 13.00%
Limited (“Hallgain”) REEEERE
Montpelier Investment Investment manager 26,484,000 - 5.48%
Management LLP REKRIE
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Notes:

1

2.

The 252,000,000 shares are owned by Hop Fung Industries.

The issued share capital of Hop Fung Industries is owned as to 78.86%,
12.57% and 8.57% by Hop Fung Industries BVI, Delight and Mr. Hui
Sum Tai respectively and Hop Fung Industries BVI is deemed to be
interested in the 252,000,000 shares under the SFO.

The issued share capital of Hop Fung Industries BVI is owned as to
11.81%, 11.81%, 38.19% and 38.19% by Mr. Hui Sum Kwok, Mr. Hui
Sum Ping, Fullwood and Goldspeed respectively.

The entire issued share capital of Fullwood is indirectly held by HSBC
through its 100% controlled corporation, Pinecity in its capacity as
the trustee of Hui & Wong 2004 Family Trust, a discretionary trust the
founder of which is Mr. Hui Sum Kwok and the discretionary objects of
which include family members of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok. Accordingly, each
of Fullwood, Pinecity, HSBC and Mr. Hui Sum Kwok is deemed to be
interested in the 252,000,000 shares under the SFO.

The entire issued share capital of Goldspeed is indirectly held by HSBC
through its 100% controlled corporation, Goldkeen in its capacity as
the trustee of HSP 2004 Family Trust, a discretionary trust the founder
of which is Mr. Hui Sum Ping and the discretionary objects of which
include family members of Mr. Hui Sum Ping. Accordingly, each of
Goldspeed, Goldkeen, HSBC and Mr. Hui Sum Ping is deemed to be
interested in the 252,000,000 shares under the SFO.

Of 262,628,000 shares, Ms. Wong Mui is directly interested in 500,000
shares and is deemed to be interested in 262,128,000 shares of the
Company under the SFO as she is the spouse of Mr. Hui Sum Kwok, a
Director and a substantial shareholder of the Company.

Ms. Jian Jian Yi is deemed to be interested in 259,894,000 shares
under the SFO as she is the spouse of Mr. Hui Sum Ping, a Director and
a substantial shareholder of the Company.

Hallgain is deemed to be interested in 62,784,000 shares. Hallgain
holds 34.50% of Kingboard Chemical Holdings Limited (“Kingboard
Chemical”) which is directly interested in 52,200,000 shares of the
Company. Jamplan (BVI) Limited (“Jamplan”) is a wholly owned
subsidiary of Kingboard Chemical. Jamplan wholly owns Kingboard
Investments Limited which is directly interested in 10,684,000 shares
of the Company.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the issued
share capital of the Company as at 31st December, 2010.

FERR®)
Bt 5E -
1. #%252,000,0004% % {5 FAHop Fung Industries# & °

2. Hop Fung Industriesz B # 17 #% ZX fEHop Fung Industries
BVI - Delight} #F #% Z= 5L £ 9 B # 5 78.86% ~ 12.57% K&
8.57% - ifn 1R ¥ & % & B3 & & il - Hop Fung Industries
BVt 18 & # / 7%252,000,000% f& 15 7 #E 25 ©

3. Hop Fung Industries BVIZ B 2 17 & & o Bl 1 7F #& B 5
A - FF R F 5L A& - Fullwood & Goldspeed# & 11.81%
11.81% - 38.19% 1 38.19% °

4. Fullwoodz & #8 B % 17 i% AN (AHSBCE #8 H 100% % 1% ).
EPinecitybAHui & Wong 2004 Family Trusts2 55 A Z & %
R # 45 A ° Hui & Wong 2004 Family Trust)y — B £ # 15
HOHATAATRBLEAE MEEETYURBIEN
REXEZREKE - Bt BEFHFRBERKRM
Fullwood - Pinecity * HSBCR FF A BI L £ & B 1R A%
4 #%252,000,000% i 15 2 #E I ©

5. Goldspeedz & #0 B % 17 I8 K (AHSBCE i@ H 100% % &
% Bl GoldkeenLAHSP 2004 Family TrustZ % 5t A & 5 [
A © HSP 2004 Family TrustJy — B2 # (55T - HAIZ
ANBHHFRTEEE: MERETURBEFRTLLEZ
RIEKE - AL - RIEF S MBS %6 - Goldspeed -
Goldkeen *HSBCR fFr & F X A X B W R A B Z
252,000,000 fi& 15 2 #E & ©

6. 262,628,000 k& fn - B Z TEHEEHBEARA
500,000/& I fH #z U RBREBEARRARZESERE
EREBAREEEZERB  BEESRBEKRO - HiF
448 B AR A F]262,128,000% i 1H 2 #2 o

7 BEEHRBAEGKD  BRERELXTARQARIZES
REEZREARTLEECERSG  HRELTWEAES
259,894,000 /% f& 17 2 # &= ©

8. Hallgain# 18 % # /562,784,000 % f& 17 2 # %5 ° HallgainiF
BRBLCISEARAR(EE(LI]) Z23450% %
MmEE{t TRIE 3 H A QA 252,200,000% i 7 2 #
z ° Jamplan (BVI) Limited ([Jamplanl) /5@ 8t T2 &
A B AR cJamplan2 BB 2 EBIREBRARE
B8 AR 7)210,584,0008% f% 15 2 #E 25 -

BEXREEN R_T-—TF+_A=+—B &
ARV EEXFEMEMBA LR ARAREHTRAS
BEEEREIAR -
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SHARES

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries had not
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities on the Stock Exchange.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share Options” above,
at no time during the year was the Company, any of its holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate. In addition, save as
disclosed above, none of the Directors, their spouse or children
under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for the
securities of the Company or had exercised any such right during
the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the transactions set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements, no other contracts of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December, 2010, the aggregate amount
of turnover attributable to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for less than 13% of the Group's total turnover.

The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the Group's five
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 54% of the Group's
total purchases and the purchases attributable to the Group'’s
largest supplier accounted for approximately 16% of the Group's
total purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital) has any interest in the Group's five
largest suppliers.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group did not enter into any transactions with
any connected persons.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting
to approximately HK$170,500.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company had complied with throughout the year ended
31st December, 2010 the code provisions set out in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices as set out in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules, except with the following deviations:

Code Provision A.2.1

o Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the division of
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief
executive officer should be clearly established and set out
in writing.

o There is no written terms on division of responsibilities
between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
The Directors consider that the responsibilities of the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer respectively are
clear and distinctive and hence written terms thereof are
not necessary.

Code Provision A.4.2

o Code provision A.4.2 stipulates that all directors appointed
to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election
by shareholders at the first general meeting after their
appointment.

o In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association,
Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy are subject to
re-election at next annual general meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)
Code Provision B.1.3

o A major deviation from the code provision B.1.3 is that
the Remuneration Committee of the Company review
and make recommendations to the Directors on the
remuneration packages of the Executive Directors only but
not senior management.

o Currently, the remuneration of senior management is
attended by the Chairman and/or Chief Executive Officer of
the Company.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company'’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at
the date of this report.

AUDITOR

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has acted as auditor of the
Company since its incorporation.

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general
meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor
of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Hui Sum Kwok
Chairman
29th March, 2011
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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Deloitte.
=)

TOTHE SHAREHOLDERS OF
HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hop
Fung Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 48 to
123, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31st December, 2010, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance
with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor'’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31st
December, 2010 and of the Group's profit and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29th March, 2011
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HEeEDWREE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 37157 DECEMBER, 2070

HE—F—FF+=F=+—HILFE

2010 2009
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FAT
Revenue Wz 7 1,428,886 923,366
Cost of sales $HE KA (1,167,934) (746,425)
Gross profit E 7 260,952 176,941
Other income HAb A 8 19,317 14,690
Selling and distribution costs FHE Mo AR (80,963) (36,234)
Administrative expenses TR X (82,325) (61,902)
Other expenses H A4 (15,746) (20,389)
Finance costs B 7% B A 9 (21,126) (10,601)
Changes in fair value of unsecured KW EBEEATE
structured borrowing 2 &H) 23 297 9,464
Changes in fair value of derivative financial PESBMTAANTE
instruments 2 &H) 19 2,829 23,452
Profit before taxation i B AE 83,235 95,421
Income tax expense Frig#i 5 X 10 (11,525) (11,656)
Profit for the year FEE R E 11 71,710 83,765
Other comprehensive income (expense) for EEHMEEKE
the year: (%) :
Exchange differences arising from translation & /BN 2
of foreign operations PEH =% 34,214 (680)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZER=EE 105,924 83,085
HK cents HK cents
Al AL
Earnings per share ik & A 14
— basic - H K 14.85 17.35
— diluted -8 14.43 1725




ﬂ n LWA Y
AT 31ST DECEMBER, 2070
R-F—FF+—H=4—H
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.1.2009
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B = FEx FAT FAT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&3 (&E31)
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME BB N RE 15 1,254,680 1,201,243 1,098,640
Prepaid lease payments on o b {55 AR RE TR AT
land use rights HEFKIA 16 35,863 34,361 34,854
1,290,543 1,235,604 1,133,494
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 17 236,240 154,862 65,631
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H b e Y i aE 18 232,437 163,550 115,419
Deposits and prepayments Ze RIEMRK 12,216 8,194 10,537
Prepaid lease payments on ot {5 AR R TR A
land use rights HERAE 16 852 809 809
Derivative financial instruments PTHE SR T A 19 2,642 262 706
Bank balances and cash RITEBR LIRS 20 203,125 174,438 254,795
687,512 502,115 447897
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade, bills and other B5 ZEBER
payables H fib FE A< SRR 21 204,832 190,499 102,788
Taxation payable JFE -t B 18 20,296 19,410 18,995
Derivative financial instruments METMIA 19 3,527 1,271 24,547
Unsecured bank borrowings EIEPIEITEE 22 439,308 328,120 387437 o
Unsecured structured borrowing  EEFEEBEE 23 - 7,750 7,750 E «
= B
667,963 547050 541,517 ; T
8 o
Net current assets (liabilities) REBEEAE)EE 19,549 (44,935) (93,6200 7 *ﬁiﬂ
0
Total assets less current liabilities 2 & E R REB A& 1,310,092 1,190,669 1039874 T gﬁ
=2
Capital and reserves BARFEE % @
Share capital A% 7 24 48,292 48,292 48,292 o
Share premium and reserves A& 17 % 1B K &1 899,674 806,123 723,786 2
Total equity EHAE 947,966 854,415 772,077 &
==
Non-current liabilities kRBAME
Unsecured bank borrowings EEIPRITEE 22 335,057 310,233 234,222
Unsecured structured borrowing £ % 18 45 & e e 23 - 8,111 25,325
Deferred taxation B IR 25 27,069 17910 8,250
362,126 336,254 267,797
1,310,092 1,190,669 1,039,874
The consolidated financial statements on pages 48 to 123 were R FABEI123B A M BHRERER ST ——F =8
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on =+ h B &EE @it F KIS #E %2\% WHTIESE
29th March, 2011 and are signed on its behalf by: RERES
DIRECTOR £ & DIRECTOR # #

HUI SUM KWOK &F 7k El HUI SUM PING #F #%#
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CONSOLIDHTGD STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN €EQUITY

SREEHE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 37157 DECEMBER, 2070

BE—F—FFL_A=1—HIFE

Share
Share Share Special  Translation options Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
(&N B E BRI E EifE BRERE REFE ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT THT THT FHT FHT FHT
(Note)
(Bt 55
At 1st January, 2009 R-ZZBETHhE—HA—H 48,292 425,382 (107444) 12,424 8,792 384,631 772,077
Profit for the year EEFE - - - - - 83,765 83,765
Exchange differences arising from BREBINEKZ
translation of foreign operations and ERZEREREHM
total other comprehensive expense 2EMAZAE
for the year = = - (680) = = (680)
Total comprehensive income FEXENNAE
for the year - - - (680) - 83,765 83,085
Recognition of equity-settled BRAUREEE
share-based payments AR 22 2 i - - - - 4,082 - 4,082
Interim dividend paid in respect of 2009 ER—ZZNFHHE S - - - - - (4.829) (4,829)
At 31st December, 2009 —TTAET A
_-[— H 48,292 425,382 (107444) 1,744 12,874 463,567 854,415
Profit for the year EEFE - - - - - 71,710 71,710
Exchange differences arising from BEBINERZ
translation of foreign operations and ERZBRFEEM
total other comprehensive income ZEKREE
for the year - - - 34,214 - - 34,214
Total comprehensive income FEZAKREE
for the year = = = 34,214 - 71,710 105,924
Recognition of equity-settled HRNRIELE
share-based payments LA Hﬁfz}iﬁZﬁﬁ - - - - 3,081 - 3,081
Final dividend paid in respectof 2009 2k -ZZAFERLK S - - - - - (10,625) (10,625)
Interim dividend paid in respect of 2010 ER=F—ZTFFHRK S = = - - = (4,829) (4,829)
At 31st December, 2010 RZZE—-ZF+=f
=+—8 48,292 425,382 (107,444) 45,958 15,955 519,823 947966
Note: B 5 -
Special reserve represents the difference between the costs of investments 5 Rl ;ﬁ BIEARNFAMNBRARZRERAEBE M LYARHAE

in subsidiaries of the Company and the aggregate amount of the non-voting
deferred share capital of Fung Kong Hop Fung Paper Ware Factory Limited and
Gong Ming Hop Fung Paper Ware Factory Limited and the nominal value of the
share capital of the subsidiaries acquired as a result of the group reorganisation

in 2003.

RAGARAHAGERABMARAD
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CONSOLIDHTGD STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

melRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3157 DECEMBER, 2070

BE—F—FFL_A=1—HIFE

2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THTT
Operating activities IR ST E)
Profit before taxation 75 A ) E 83,235 95,421
Adjustments for: LUEH DA T2 -
Finance costs B 75 Bk 2R 21,126 10,601
(Reversal of impairment loss) ZorERFE (BERERERE)
impairment losses on trade receivables EE B (3,589) 3,553
Reversal of allowance for inventories B[O 17 5 B % (54) (13,851)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME  mERREITE 68,027 61,529
Release of prepaid lease payments & 8] 1 Hb (F FA #E
on land use rights ENEERE 605 493
Interest income F & U A (625) (1,186)
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEME  HEL
and equipment S ER 654 164
Share-based payment expense UMDz 3,081 4,082
Changes in fair value of derivative STESmMT A
financial instruments NEEZ & (2,829) (23,452)
Changes in fair value of unsecured I RERES
structured borrowing NTAE > & E) (297) (9,464)
Operating cash flows before movements RE)E B E AT
in working capital MoBEIR SR E 169,334 127,890
Increase in inventories F B (81,324) (75,380)
Increase in trade and other receivables Z 5 % H b e Uk FRIE 1 1 (65,298) (51,684)
(Increase) decrease in deposits e RBEAZGEm)
and prepayments fﬁ 2 (4,022) 2,343
Increase in trade, bills and other payables - E R K H b FE S IR IE I N 25,113 74,795
Settlement of derivative L/( T/Tii MITARZE -
financial instruments, net i 2,705 620
Cash generated from operations EMEELZES 46,508 78,584
Income tax paid 2 & T B R (1,480) (1,586)
Income tax refund BB AR - 5
Net cash from operating activities RETHELAZHESSE 45,028 77,003

BEEEERERAS
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CONSOLIDHTGD STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

melRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3157 DECEMBER, 2070

BE—F—FFL_A=1—HIFE

2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Investing activities REEH
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  WEWZE  HE R & (99,828) (145,512)
Increase in prepaid lease payments on T b fF TR A E KA
land use rights o (1,351) =
Interest received 2 F B 625 1,186
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant HEYE - BE K&
and equipment T8 s IA 170 660
Net cash used in investing activities RETEFERACRESFHE (100,384) (143,666)
Financing activities L& E B
New bank loans raised HERITEE 301,527 201,490
Bank advances drawn FAEXRITERK 595,582 378,163
(Decrease) increase in trust receipt loans S WEERCE D) &N (14,139) 40,384
Repayment of bank loans BERITEE (225,189) (179,441)
Repayment of bank advances BEPBITHER (527,913) (423,902)
Repayment of unsecured structured borrowing E@ﬂﬂiﬁ HERBES (15,640) (7.750)
Dividends paid 2k AR & (15,454) (4,829)
Interest paid EENEES (21,126) (17,403)
Net cash from (used in) financing activities B EZEBEL(EFH)Z2HEEHE 77,648 (13,288)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and HERBESEEEMOED)
cash equivalents HE 22,292 (79,951)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1st January R—A—BABRLERBELEE 174,438 254,795
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EREH o EE 6,395 (406)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31stDecember R+ —-—B=1+—HRERERLZEE
represented by bank balances and cash RITEBRERE 203,125 174,438




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3157 DECEMBER, 2070

ElFE—

F—FES A= —AIFE

GENERAL

The Company is an exempted company with limited
liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange"). Its parent is Hop Fung Industries Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and its
ultimate parent is Hop Fung Industries (Holdings) Limited,
a company also incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.
The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed under Corporate
Information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HKD"), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
Note 33.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied, the following
new and revised Standards, Amendments and
Interpretations (“new and revised HKFRSs"”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA").

HKFRS 2 (Amendments) Group Cash-settled Share-based
Payment Transactions

HKFRS 3 (as revised in
2008)

Business Combinations

HKAS 27 (as revised in  Consolidated and Separate
2008) Financial Statements

HKAS 39 (Amendments) Eligible Hedged Items

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in 2009

HKFRSs (Amendments) Amendments to HKFRS 5 as part
of Improvements to HKFRSs
issued in 2008

HK(IFRIC) - Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets

to Owners
HK-1Int5 Presentation of Financial
Statements - Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

Except as described below, the application of the new and
revised Standards and Interpretations in the current year
has had no material effect on the amounts reported in
these consolidated financial statements and/or disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 17 Leases

As part of Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009,
HKAS 17 Leases has been amended in relation to the
classification of leasehold land. Before the amendments
to HKAS 17 the Group was required to classify leasehold
land as operating leases and to present leasehold land as
prepaid lease payments in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The amendments to HKAS 17 have
removed such a requirement. The amendments require
that the classification of leasehold land should be based on
the general principles set out in HKAS 17, that is, whether
or not substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of a leased asset have been transferred to the
lessee.

In accordance with the transitional provisions set out in
the amendments to HKAS 17, the Group reassessed the
classification of unexpired leasehold land as at 1st January,
2010 based on information that existed at the inception of
the leases. The adoption of amendments to HKAS 17 had
no impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements - Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements - Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause ("HK Int 5")
clarifies that term loans that include a clause that gives the
lender the unconditional right to call the loans at any time
(‘repayment on demand clause’) should be classified by the
borrower as current liabilities. The Group has applied HK
Int 5 for the first time in the current year. HK Int 5 requires
retrospective application.

In order to comply with the requirements set out in HK
Int 5, the Group has changed its accounting policy on
classification of term loans with a repayment on demand
clause. In the past, the classification of such term
loans were determined based on the agreed scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. Under HK
Int 5, term loans with a repayment on demand clause are
classified as current liabilities.

As a result, bank loans that contain a repayment on
demand clause with the aggregate carrying amounts
of HK$56,959,000 and HK$104,463,000 have been
reclassified from non-current liabilities to current
liabilities as at 31st December, 2009 and 1st January,
2009 respectively. As at 31st December, 2010, bank
loans (that are repayable more than one year after the
end of the reporting period but contain a repayment on
demand clause) with the aggregate carrying amount of
HK$55,922,000 have been classified as current liabilities.
The application of HK Int 5 has had no impact on the
reported profit or loss for the current and prior years.

Such term loans have been presented in the earliest time
band in the maturity analysis for financial liabilities (see
Note 6 for details).
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and revised Standards and Interpretations issued

but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised Standards, Amendments or Interpretations that

have been issued but are not yet effective.

HKASs (Amendments)  Improvements to HKFRSs issued

in 2010

HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Disclosures - Transfers of

Financial Assets®

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments*

HKAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred Tax: Recovery of

Underlying Assets®

HKAS 24 (as revised in  Related Party Disclosures®

2009)

HKAS 32 (Amendments) Classification of Rights Issues’

HK(IFRIC) - Int 14
(Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) - Int 19

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2010

or 1st January, 2011, as appropriate

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2010

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2011

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January,
2013

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January,
2012

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January,
2011

7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st February,
2010

Prepayments of a Minimum
Funding Requirement®

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities
with Equity Instruments?
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (as issued in November
2009) introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (as revised in November 2010) adds
requirements for financial liabilities and for derecognition.

o Under HKFRS 9, all recognised financial assets
that are within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are
subsequently measured at either amortised cost
or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are
held within a business model whose objective is
to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal outstanding
are generally measured at amortised cost at the end
of subsequent accounting periods. All other debt
investments and equity investments are measured
at their fair values at the end of subsequent
accounting periods.

° In relation to financial liabilities, the significant
change relates to financial liabilities that are
designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
Specifically, under HKFRS 9, for financial liabilities
that are designated as at fair value through profit or
loss, the amount of change in the fair value of the
financial liability that is attributable to changes in
the credit risk of that liability is presented in other
comprehensive income, unless the presentation
of the effects of changes in the liability's credit
risk in other comprehensive income would create
or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit
or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a
financial liability's credit risk are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss. Previously, under HKAS
39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value
of the financial liability designated as at fair value
through profit or loss was presented in profit or
loss.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1st January, 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The directors anticipate that HKFRS 9 will be adopted in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for financial
year ending 31st December, 2013. Based on the Group's
financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31st December,
2010, the application of the new Standard is not expected
to have a significant impact on amounts reported in respect
of the Groups' financial assets and financial liabilities.
However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable
estimate of that effect until a detailed review has been
completed.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the other new and revised Standards, Amendments
or Interpretations will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for financial instruments
that are measured at fair values, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

FeIREET BB R HREE
A(ERYBRELER D Z2ER
(%)

EREVBREENFIRNR T —=F—HF—
B ARRIA 2 FERMER - WA RREEM -

EERHBRAEERE_FT—=F1+_H
ST ALV BREREZGEVBERERAE
B BREENESE - RBAEEHE T
—ZEF+ A=+ HIEZUBEERTE
BfE MENZERERTEHAKENTH
BERMBABEMEREBENEATE -
A RERFAEMA REZFEZEE
A I AR ATAT -

AN 2 B TA A PR AT BAE 5 AT A
EAARRBETEHEANEERBERE
AWE -

TEERBE

RAVBRREREHETLEEHMISRM
ZEEVHRELAMRE - I RAFH
BRI BRXAES DA REE QR K
BIMRE 2 BRKE -

RAMBBREELKNAELERE  HEET
ERMTEARAFEFEERN  FHEHRT
XZEFHBEK -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ml-ﬁ

fn S B §5 ¥k 2% B 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3157 DECEMBER, 2070

ElFE—

F—FFL_A=1—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is
achieved where the Company has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income from the effective date of
acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with those used by other members of the
Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and
expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold and services provided in the normal course
of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered and title has passed.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset, excluding financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss, is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and
at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including land and buildings
held for use in the production or for administrative
purposes, other than construction in progress, are stated
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, over their estimated useful lives and after taking
into account of their estimated residual value, using the
straight-line method.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production
or for its own use purposes. Construction in progress
is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss.
Construction in progress is classified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets,
on the same basis as other property assets, commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item) is included in profit or loss
in the period in which the item is derecognised.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net

realisable value. Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-
out method.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Impairment losses on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. If
the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss
is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities
are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets comprise financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL') and loans and
receivables. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

3.
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amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments other than those financial assets
classified as at FVTPL, of which interest income is included
in changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at FVTPL comprise financial assets held
for trading.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near future; or

° it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial
instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value,
with changes in fair value arising from remeasurement
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise. The changes in fair value of derivative financial
instruments recognised in profit or loss include any
dividend or interest earned on the financial assets.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FTESHBETE)
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) SRMIA#E
Financial assets (continued) BEBEEE (&)
Effective interest method BT F %
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the ERMNBELELBAEUBHBEENEEKANUE
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEHHESE)
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) SRMIA#E
Financial assets (continued) BEBEEE (&)
Loans and receivables EREWHE
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets BER R EWRIE TR E RIS ERE 2 E

with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables (including trade and other receivables,
and bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment
loss on financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting
period. Financial assets are impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial
assets have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

° default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment
on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment
for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group's
past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
credit period ranged from 5 to 150 days, other observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that
correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there
is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable
is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FTEESTHE R
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) SRMIASE)
Financial assets (continued) HMHEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) B EERE (&)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FTEESTHE R
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) @I EE)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments OBEEERERTA
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a SEEBET o MKEERER TERE
group entity are classified according to the substance FelvueRcEzctTEREMBAEERER L
of the contractual arrangements entered into and the B2EEDE -

definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. The Group's financial liabilities are
generally classified into financial liabilities at FVTPL and
other financial liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis other than those financial liability classified as
at FVTPL, of which the interest expense is included in
changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
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Financial liabilities at FVTPL has two subcategories, NWAFEFABRZHBEEEY AMETE
including financial liabilities held for trading and those BEBIERSGZVBAEE RZSEERE

designated at FVTPL on initial recognition.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:
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WETIEFEADEABIER S ZUBAE

o it has been incurred principally for the purpose of o ELXVKAENTEENRRTAR
repurchasing in the near future; or HREEE 8k

. it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial . ZUBEEBAESEHXRAERENE &
instruments that the Group manages together and AlEemTEASN— ﬁB - 3 A iR

has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.
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Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held
for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if it forms part a contract containing one
or more embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits
the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be
designated as at FVTPL. Accordingly, the Group has
designated its structured borrowing that contains one or
more embedded derivatives as a financial liability at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value arising on remeasurement recognised
directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including trade, bills and other
payables and unsecured bank borrowings) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss immediately.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FTEESTHE R
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) SWMIE(E)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued) BEEEREZTA(E)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. * = @%‘I‘ LB( %ﬁ (&)
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) EWMITEE)
Embedded derivatives WEAELGTETA

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts
are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and
characteristics are not closely related to those of the host
contracts and the host contracts are not measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve).
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At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its R|EPR A& I1 AERKRBEERB E%
estimates of the number of options that are expected to BESEZHT REBHRNERERE

ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to share options
reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Share-based payment transactions (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(continued)

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve will
be transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will continue to be held in share
options reserve.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the leases transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter
into an operating lease are recognised as a reduction of
rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element as
a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group unless it is clear that both
elements are operating leases, in which case the entire
lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically,
the minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum
upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values
of the leasehold interests in the land element and building
element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leasing (continued)
Leasehold land and building (continued)

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid
lease payments on land use rights” in the consolidated
statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the
land and building elements, the entire lease is generally
classified as a finance lease and accounted for as property,
plant and equipment.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period when the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period. The
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner
in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting
period to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate
of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period,
and their income and expenses are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
(the translation reserve).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets
are substantively ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme/state-
managed retirement benefit schemes are charged as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

3.

FESTTHEX®)

Shis )

REERBRESKRERELZENR ZEY
RREFELHRARBEPER -

REINGEAMBEERMS  AEEBEBINEH
CEERBBENERRNRERARZERAE XSG
ERAEEZIEEEEVET)  r MEKA
ExHThBZERZVFPHERETHRE K
FEXRZHE AL R XEREAER R
RIEEEARAT  IRARRSER ZERER -
PEEEZE)DL%%E(ZZDE)EAEWE%@L&)\{E
RN ERRE(ERLFERE)

BEE KA

BE BEILERAZKEBEEBIRERER
MAOTARARREREGAEECEE) CHEEKE
HEERAFAZTEEZKRAES BEEZXF
BECANMEL A ERERERAHREE
Rl BEBEEFRARRAEXREERE
BREREMBRBRZIBEERA  RABERXTEAR
ZIEERAE -

FRERMEBEERATINESE 2 HFH
HER -

REBEHEA

iR K48 A BL A

Mgl ATES 8 BRE LR KRG
EFHZHERNEERTREMESHERZ
RMEIMERS 8 -

SEEEERERAS

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED




ANNUAL REPORT 2010

72

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ml-ﬁ

fn S B 35 ¥k 2% B GE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3157 DECEMBER, 2070

EE—

F—FES A= —AIFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The following are key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair values of derivative and other financial
instruments

Derivative financial instruments, including foreign exchange
forward contracts and interest rate swaps, are carried at
the end of the reporting period at fair value as disclosed
in note 19. The best evidence of fair value is quoted prices
in an active market, where quoted prices are not available
for a particular financial instrument, the directors of the
Company use observable market inputs to estimate the fair
value. The use of methodologies, models and assumptions
in pricing and valuing these financial assets and liabilities is
subjective and requires varying degrees of judgement by
management, which may result in significantly different fair
values and results.

For unsecured structured borrowing, details are set out in
notes 6(a) and 23.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Allowance for inventories

In determining the amount of allowance required for
obsolete and slow-moving inventories, the directors of the
Company would evaluate ageing analysis of inventories
and compare the carrying value of inventories to their
respective net realisable values based on latest market
prices and current economic conditions. A considerable
amount of judgement is required in determining such
allowance. If conditions which have an impact on the
net realisable value of inventories deteriorate/improve,
additional allowances/reversal of allowances already made
may be required.

Allowance for trade receivables

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss,
the directors of the Company take into consideration
the estimation of future cash flows. The amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset's carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition). Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material
impairment loss may arise.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

In applying the accounting policy on property, plant and
equipment with respect to depreciation, the directors
of the Company estimate the useful lives of various
categories of property, plant and equipment according to
their experiences over the usage of property, plant and
equipment and also by reference to the relevant industrial
norm. The useful lives of property, plant and equipment
are reviewed annually. If the expectations differ from the
previous estimates, the changes will be accounted for
prospectively as changes in accounting estimates.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Income taxes

As described in note 30, the Group had lodged objections
with the IRD against all the assessments that were issued
to certain subsidiaries for years of assessment 1998/1999
to 2005/2006. Up to date, the Group has not received any
notice of determination from the IRD. In determining the
liability, the management has taken relevant professional
advice and exercised judgement in estimating the timing
and future cash outflows. If the actual future cash flows
are different from expectation, a material underprovision of
income tax may arise.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes the borrowings disclosed in Notes 22
and 23, net of cash and cash equivalents, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption
of existing debt.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3757 DECEMBER, 2070
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. SRTIH
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) €T HZEH
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FH&T
Financial assets BB E
Fair value through profit or loss AAFEGSAER
(FVTPL) ([AAFEFAERE]D
Derivative financial instruments TESmI A 2,642 262
Loans and receivables (including B R ERFIE(BE
cash and cash equivalents) RekReEE) 435,562 337,988
438,204 338,250
Financial liabilities HEEE
Fair value through profit or loss AAFEFF AR 75
(FVTPL) (TARFEFTAEZE]
Derivative financial instruments PTEESRBTA 3,527 1,271
Unsecured structured borrowing EIMAABES
(see below) (B Tx) - 15,861 e m
Amortised cost 8 8 A A 979,197 828852 E g
==
o T
982,724 845,984 O ex
Z
o
o
Unsecured structured borrowing (Note) A EER (ME) = g;
=2
(O]
2010 2009 s
HK$'000 HK$'000 g
FHET FHET 2
(-9
2
Difference between carrying amount REEHEEBHEETFEE
and outstanding principal amount IAREERE S
to be paid at maturity: ZER
Carrying amount measured at fair value &2 VA2 2 FEE - 15,861
Amount payable at maturity B AENESE - (15,564)
- 297
Note:  On 27th December, 2010, the Group entered into an izt : MRZE—ZETF+_A=-++tH Xx&EEH
agreement for termination of unsecured structured MR ERBEBEER S - 2R
borrowing. The transaction was completed during the SERFEFARATK BER—_T—TF+=
year and there was no outstanding balance at 31st A=+—BIEFERREELH -
December, 2010.
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, bank balances and
cash, derivative financial instruments, trade, bills
and other payables, unsecured bank borrowings
and unsecured structured borrowing. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (foreign currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The directors of the Company
manage and monitor these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk
Foreign currency risk

(i) Non-derivative foreign currency monetary
assets and monetary liabilities

A significant portion of the Group's sales
is denominated in Renminbi (“RMB") and
HKD and significant portion of the Group's
purchases is denominated in RMB and
United States dollars (“USD"). The Group's
manufacturing operations are located in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

Several subsidiaries of the Group have
foreign currency sales and purchases,
which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. Certain bank balances,
trade receivables, trade, bills and other
payables and unsecured bank borrowings
are denominated in the foreign currencies
of the relevant group entities. The directors
of the Company monitor foreign exchange
exposure and manage it by entering into
certain foreign exchange forward contracts
as set out in Note 19.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

(i)

6. @I EA®

Financial risk management objectives and (b) HEEREEBEERBREE)
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued) mEEE(E)
Foreign currency risk (continued) SR % (A )
Non-derivative foreign currency monetary (i) ETEIINBEEEEEEER S
assets and monetary liabilities (continued) E(#E)
At the reporting date, the carrying RBEH  AEENEHEER
amounts of the Group’s monetary assets BERELAINEEE LI 2N
and monetary liabilities denominated NNENEKEEREEEBEZ
in currencies other than the respective BREENT :
functional currencies of the relevant group
entities are as follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE =L
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FET THET FTET
RMB AR 4,058 103,948 3,533 154,068
HKD BT 4,658 3,436 5,825 418
usD e 15,939 18,377 47,603 16,684
Other Hith 46 19 -
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis SN B R TR T

The following table details the Group's
sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease
in the functional currencies of the relevant
group entities against the relevant foreign
currencies. Sensitivity rate of 5% represents
the assessment of the directors of the
Company of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the year end for a
5% change in foreign currency rates. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the
foreign currency exposure in relation to the
HKD and USD exchange rate fluctuation is
not significant as HKD is pegged to USD. For
this reason, the sensitivity analysis below
does not reflect this.

TERFIWAEBREEBHERE
BrleE K EBEINEFAE
R EZEL% 2 BRRE » B EE%
RN EEE L E KA g

ZEBRFAE - BRES>TER
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

(i)

6. T@MIHw
Financial risk management objectives and (b) HEEREEBEERBREE)
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued) mEEE(E)
Foreign currency risk (continued) Sh B ] % (AE)
Non-derivative foreign currency monetary (i) ETEIINBEEEEEEER S
assets and monetary liabilities (continued) &(E)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis SN R S T ()
(continued)
The sensitivity analysis below shows TXZHBEREDWBRAAR
the impact relates to monetary assets or By BT BECEBKEELE
liabilities that are denominated in RMB EoR N EEEREREINGEE
or HKD against the functional currencies BETIARBEZTE -
of relevant group entities, HKD or RMB
respectively.
In relation to monetary assets, where the MEEKEEMmMS ' WHEBS
functional currency of the relevant group BREHEEEREEMNMEN
entity strengthens 5% against the currency QHEZ%?M}FES% Bl E A
in which the assets are denominated, Hig e e HEES
there would be a decrease in profit for BEmE ' W8 E'ﬁ %E BEB 2
the year. However, in relation to monetary EEERBEMENGTEZE
liabilities, where the functional currency of B E5% © B F EFEiG T
the relevant group entity strengthens 5% i e
against the currency in which the liabilities
are denominated, there would be an
increase in profit for the year.
RMB Impact HKD Impact
AR¥z2E BLzEE
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET THERT FHL
Increase (decrease) A ;H 1 0 (i )
in profit (26) 2,506 58 (151)
A 5% weakening of the functional currency ML EMESEL% » 4 B F

would have an equal but opposite impact on
the profit for the year.

BEE
EXIARBBEARITE -
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

(i) Non-derivative foreign currency monetary
assets and monetary liabilities (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
(continued)

In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign
exchange risk as the year end exposure
does not reflect the exposure during the
year.

(ii) Foreign exchange forward contracts

During the year, the Group has entered into
several foreign exchange forward contracts
with banks, details are disclosed in Note
19. These derivatives are not accounted
for under hedge accounting. The Group's
foreign exchange forward contracts exposed
the Group to foreign currency risk.

The directors of the Company consider that
the exposure of HKD against USD is limited
as HKD is pegged to USD.

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure to
the Group’'s forward exchange rate risk
for contracts of RMB against USD at the
reporting date.

If the forward exchange rate of RMB against
USD had been 5% higher/lower while all
other input variables of the valuation models
were held constant, the Group's profit
for the year would decrease/increase by
HK$11,038,000/HK$11,038,000 respectively
(2009: decrease/increase by HK$775,000/
HK$775,000).
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)

(ii) Foreign exchange forward contracts
(continued)

In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the above sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign
currency exposure. Details of the terms
of the leveraged foreign exchange forward
contracts are set out in Note 19.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to variable-rate bank borrowings
(see Note 22 for details of these borrowings), bank
balances and deposits. The directors consider that
the interest rate risk on bank balances and deposits
are minimal, accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is
performed. The directors of the Company monitor
the interest rate exposure and manage it by
entering into certain interest rate swaps contracts
(see Note 19 for details of these interest rate swaps
contracts).

In respect of the structured borrowing, the
repayment amounts were based on the spread
rates between 10-year US$-International Swaps and
Derivatives Association (“ISDA")-Swap Rate and
2-year US$-ISDA-Swap Rate, the entire borrowing
was designated as fair value through profit or loss
as disclosed in Note 23. During the year ended 31st
December, 2010, the structured borrowing was fully
settled by early termination.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk section of
this note. The Group cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR,
and prevailing interest rates offered by the People’s
Bank of China arising from the Group’s borrowings
denominated in HKD and RMB respectively.

@M IRz

MHRABEEEERRBEE)

% /E B (48)

S g (48

(ii) SNEERHA K (E)
$“ﬂ%$w% b gREE

IPMETKREEINERR -
BEAIINERRE O ZIERF

5 H R HIE19 ©
T 5 2

AEEAZBIERTERE(ZEEE
ZEEIBEN M EE22) - RITAER R IF K
BERZRERENEZAR EERA
RITERERERZIMNETREREE - B
LA ﬁﬁﬁﬁ@mﬁ“ﬁ ZIN/NEST -
$ﬁﬂTﬂ RETTEE  WEBFZ
?ﬂ%ﬁ%éﬁﬂ&%ﬂ%ﬁ%é%
FABEEHRMEI19HEETERE -

REBEEmMS EESBEDIBREN
TI0FETT - AR IR BER RITERE
T AW ([ISDA]) - HEAF| = R2F %

- ISDA-REAFI R 7 B =51 H o 2 (E
BEREEARFETFABR  FEBER
MaEBEE RBEE_ZT—ZTF+=
A=+—HILHE #REERRER
WRIEMABEEE -

AEBEAZMBREBZHERRF
RAMZE-RBESER - NEBMHR
EREMNERBREZEFREBRT
RZEHFERAEEBANBTREARES
ENEEREEZTBEARRITAR
ZBETNEEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fn S B 35 ¥k 2% B GE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3157 DECEMBER, 2070
BE=F—FF{ - A=+—AILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivatives
instruments. The analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of financial instruments outstanding at the
end of the reporting period were outstanding for
the whole year. Increase or decrease in a 50 basis
point represents the assessment of the directors of
the Company of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates. For the Group's exposure to interest
rates on its variable-rate bank borrowings, if interest
rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the Group'’s
post-tax profit for the year ended 31st December,
2010 would decrease/increase by HK$3,872,000
(2009: decrease/increase by HK$3,192,000).

For structured borrowing, the change in number of
business days in the period for which Spread Rate
< -0.05% represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.
If 8 more business days in the period for which
Spread Rate < -0.05% and all other variables were
held constant, the Group's post-tax profit for the
year ended 31st December, 2009 would decrease
by approximately HK$2,374,000. No sensitivity
analysis is prepared for structured borrowing in
current year as the structured borrowing was early
terminated and no balance was outstanding as at
31st December, 2010.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the
interest rate risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk

As at 31st December, 2010, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties is arising from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors
of the Company has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debt at the end
of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds which are deposited with several banks
with high credit ratings, the Group does not have
significant concentration of credit risk. Trade
receivables consist of a large number of customers,
spread across diverse industries and geographical
areas.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a
significant source of liquidity. As at 31st December,
2010, the Group has available undrawn borrowing
facilities of approximately HK$385,713,000 (2009:
HK$241,264,000). The Group monitors its current
and expected liquidity requirements regularly
and ensuring sufficient liquid cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from reputable
financial institutions to meet the Group’s liquidity
requirements in the short and long term.

The following table details the Group's remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. For
non-derivative financial liabilities, the table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay.
Specifically, bank borrowings with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the earliest time
band regardless of the probability of the banks
choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates
for other non-derivative financial liabilities are based
on the agreed repayment dates. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows.

For derivative instruments that settle on a net
basis, undiscounted net cash (inflows)/ outflows
are presented. The liquidity analysis for the Group'’s
derivative financial instruments are prepared based
on the contractual maturities as the management
considers that the contractual maturities are
essential for an understanding of the timing of the
cash flows of derivatives.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. E®IAwm
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and BEEREREEEERKEZE)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBELEE(E)
Liquidity and interest risk tables B E & KT E A&
Weighted
average  Ondemand Total
effective  orless than 3 months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month 1-3 months to 1year 1-2 years 2:5 years cash flows amount
MEFS RERY -z =8B L3k
BRAZ -fBAR Zf8R B-F -EME WERIE BEMEEE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FEL TER FEL FER FEL TER
2010 —2-2f%
Non-derivative FITEHMBER
financial liabilities
Trade, bills and other payables B 5 - Z& k2 th & 508 - 204,832 - - - - 204,832 204,832
Variable rate unsecured EERRATEEIDH =
bank borrowings 31 195,595 143,627 118,946 254,222 95,140 807530 774,365
400,427 143,627 118,946 254,222 95,140 1,012,362 979,197
Derivatives settled net REELEFEZITEIA
Foreign exchange forward SNEREA 4 (HEE)
contracts (note) (75) (98) 1,221 3,939 - 4,987 3,521
Weighted
average On demand Total
effective or less than 3 months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month 1-3 months to 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years cash flows amount
METH RERH -z =f@A AR
ERA= —fEAR =f8A 2-F —ERE WMERRF ReNELE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL THEL TEL TEL TEL
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(Z51) (E51) (E31) (&51) (E31)
2009 ZEERE
Non-derivative FTERBRE
financial liabilities
Trade, bills and other payables 25 - 24§ R &t f (1 508 - 190,499 = - B - 190,499 190,499
Variable rate unsecured ERARTEETDHR
bank borrowings 34 204,179 83,655 98,897 71,978 216,071 674,780 638,353
Unsecured structured borrowing  E M BLE(EE 20 - 3,875 3913 47 - 15,535 15,861
394,678 87530 102,810 79,725 216,071 880,814 844,713
Derivatives settled net RFELEEZHTEIR
Interest rate swaps Fl®ie 6 56 6 - - 68 65
Foreign exchange forward SNERBA B (HHE)
contracts (note) 305 589 1,022 151 - 2,067 1,206
31 645 1,028 151 - 2,135 1271
Note:  The above cash flows were estimated based on Mz : LB ESRENIEREAEEHETH

yield curves of market HK$ to US$ and RMB to US$
exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. Such
yield curves showed market HK$ to US$ and RMB
to US$ exchange rates over a range of maturity
dates. Estimated cash flows in RMB to US$ were
then translated to HK$ at spot rates prevailing at the
reporting date for presentation purpose. The above
cash flows might not reflect the actual outcomes. A
significantly weakening in RMB against US$ would
result in the Group's purchasing much more RMB than
what the Group needs due to the leverage. Details of
the terms of the leveraged foreign exchange contracts
are set out in Note 19.

%ﬁ&AEM%%fEZET?ﬁ@”QE
R TG - ZBEHRRRET
HETRARBHEEZTRTREIEAAR
ZEX ARBEETZMEHABRER
ERREAEHERTUBRERET -
25 2 A - Bl & mK 8 R
HERR ARBHITZEXZH
BELAREBE AT BME D
Z/\E’ﬁ@ BRAINES L 2 RRFF
1% a0 2 5 B 5219
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. T@IEHw®
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) HEEREEBEERBEEZ)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) FEELEE(E)
Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are BEABEEEREEKAZRITE
included in the “on demand or less than 1 month” EHBALAEBEEOTFNZEE
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at kk— @A ANIEBHE - 75" T —ZF
31st December, 2010 and 31st December, 2009, +—A=Z=+—BRkR=_ZEFTNF+ A
the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of =+—H ZERTEENEEZRT
these bank loans amounted to HK$110,035,000 IH & %42 % o Bl A110,035,0007%8 T &
and HK$108,908,000 respectively. Taking into 108,908,000 7T ° 4% & & A & & Bf 7%
account the Group's financial position, the directors MRtE  EERERTETSTHER
do not believe that it is probable that the banks AIBERF ERER 2R -
will exercise their discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment.
For the purpose of managing liquidity risk, the EEERHEcRR  BEEBRIE T
management reviews the expected cash flow FEBEACECERABEES
information of the Group's bank loans with a AENEREERRA I AEEBRITRE
repayment on demand clause based on the EMBEAReREEETR
scheduled repayment dates set out in the
agreement as set out in the table below:
On demand or Total
less than 3 months undiscounted Carrying
1 month 1-3 months to 1year 1-2 years 2-5 years cash flows amount
RERY - iRz k)
kL =f8A - -EWE MEZLE REREBLEE REE
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TET TEx TER TET TET TER TET
2010 ZZ2-2F
Bank borrowings with a repayment 257 AT RIS 2R 8 B (63K
on demand clause ZHRITEEE 2,542 16,609 36,233 35,843 20,883 12,110 110,035
2009 =t 1 3
Bank borrowings with arepayment A AT REB EREE
on demand clause SBEEE 3178 17693 32,104 38,077 19,846 110,898 108,908
The amounts included above for variable interest MESANERARERRZ2EH TR
rate instruments for non-derivative financial BEEEZFEME - AL EB@RIELT

liabilities is subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ to those estimates of interest
rates determined at the end of the reporting period.

B EETHANE T AN S EAN
HEE -

SEEEERERAS

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined as follows:

o the fair values of derivative financial
instruments (i.e. foreign exchange forward
contracts and interest rate swaps) provided
by the relevant banks, are determined based
on observable market inputs. For structured
borrowing, the fair value is estimated with
reference to the valuation provided by the
relevant bank and details are set out in
Notes 6(a) and 23; and

o the fair value of other financial assets and
financial liabilities (excluding derivative
instruments) are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

Financial instruments that are measured subsequent
to initial recognition at fair value, based on the
degree to which the fair value is observable, were
grouped into Levels 1 to 3.

6.

@M I Rz

(c)

AV

MBEAERMBABZAFEBETEN
T

. TEEBMITABISNERRG D
RMEEH) 2 A FERAEBRE
MIZREEEL ABBRTE
H-REBEEEMS A& E
ERABABRTRER 2 HEME
ERFE FHREBEEZH
BEO M 6@ 23 0 K

. HiM B EERMBAGB(TE
EOIAETR)ZAFEDRES
BEMRZIAFRABSREDMN
RERZEEEAMEE -

EERRBEEVBERRANBHEKA
naﬁzﬁﬁﬁﬁi)}ﬁﬁﬁﬁf ZERHEE
BEENFERE

NPUAAFERRBRIEZERTA
BERAVFEZAEERED R —
e
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. E®IAwm
(¢)  Fair value (continued) () 2FEE)
Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived NEEFEDNERATEZERZ
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market é?‘k’é BRERME 2 MECRER
for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 fair value B)BE - E-RAFEFAETRE —
measurements are those derived from inputs other LBEZHREN BEEXBED
than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are EEAIER XHEEEIEERELE)
observable for the asset or liability, either directly BIR2EBESE - ZF=RATEF=
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). DEETHEREFSE  EFBER
Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived Al FEAR IR ] B R T 5 BUR (R B R
from valuation techniques that include inputs for the ZHABB) CEESBEEE -
asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs).
2010
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& B e Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T THT FHT
87
Financial assets at FVTPL L\ A E{E5t A B3
ZHBEE
Derivative financial THEEMIA
instruments - 2,642 - 2,642 e @
EJ
Financial liabilities at FVTPL [\ A P&t AlE % § =
ZHBAE -
Derivative financial fTELRmIA Z
instruments - 3,527 - 352717 S
2
2009 o] ?1'3
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 5
— & =% E= 1 @i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 2
:F/%ﬁ: 'T'/%TE :F/%TE :F/%E 8
==
Financial assets at FVTPL L\ A £ (&5t A B3
ZHEEE
Derivative financial THEEMIA
instruments = 262 = 262
Financial liabilities at FVTPL [\ A P&t A 1§83
ZHKEE
Derivative financial THEEmIA
instruments - 1,271 - 1,271
Unsecured structured BEHREEEE
borrowing = - 15,861 15,861
Total st - 1,271 15,861 17132
There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 nor RAFE  F—REFE ZH 2 HILE
transfers into or out of Level 3 in current year. M _%&ﬁﬁﬁq)\ﬁ%ﬁ
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. E®IAwm
(¢)  Fair value (continued) () 2FEE)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements OBEEEF=RAFHETEZHEK
of financial liability
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Unsecured structured borrowing EIRHEBES
At 1st January Rn—H—H 15,861 33,075
Exchange adjustments bE 7, 3 & 76 -
Repayment E%’K (15,640) (7.750)
Changes in fair value recognised RERERZATE
in profit or loss 5 &) (297) (9,464)
At 31st December R+-—A=+—H - 15,861
REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7 WaEkoHER

Revenue
Revenue represents the gross proceeds received and

receivable on the sale of goods during the year, net of
discounts and sales related tax.

Segment information

The Group’s operations are mainly organised under the
segments of manufacture and sale of:

o Containerboard - corrugating medium and linerboard

o Corrugated packaging - corrugated paper boards
and carton boxes

Information regarding the above segments is reported
below.

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and
results by operating and reportable segment:

iy 58
WaEFRNHEET MMM REEHBN
RRE W R EWRPATERARE -

2 & &

AEBEBEI2HATEEREE D BANX:

. TR - FUAS AR R 41

. FB 8% - RS SR LA
BRALADHMZEREHRAOT -

AT RIREE R 2
BREEDN

woEbE 5

D2 AR B
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7 WENDRER =)
(continued)
Segment information (continued) DEE R (Z)
Segment revenues and results TEM R FEE
For the year ended 31st December, 2010 HE-ZZF+_A=1T—RHILEFE
Corrugated
Containerboard Packaging  Segment total Eliminations Consolidated
AR % A HaE H &a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER
REVENUE g
External sales HINEE 156,383 1,272,503 1,428,886 - 1,428,886
Intersegment sales DEEHEE 773,388 2,522 775,910 (775,910) -
Total 185t 929,771 1,275,025 2,204,796 (775,910) 1,428,886
RESULT E4
Segment profit o EFE 39,145 62,090 101,235 - 101,235
Finance costs HBHA @126 o @
Changes in fair value of unsecured ~ EEMEEEEATEY E u::i
structured borrowing 2 297 = E
Changes in fair value of derivative ~ $T£ BT AATEZE Q =
finanial instruments 2,829 cH
— 6
T i
Profit before taxation BRI A 83235 S
(V)
(V)
=
2
(-9
o
==
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
Segment information (continued)

Segment revenues and results (continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2009

WzRDEBER 2

DERER &)
7 A R R FEAE(E)

BE-RRAF+-A=+—HILER

Corrugated
Containerhoard Packaging  Segment total Eliminations Consolidated
AR RFEE N g &a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TEL FAL TEL TAL
REVENUE I &
External sales HINMAE 127406 795,960 923,366 - 923,366
Intersegment sales DEEHEE 476,187 858 477045 (477,045) =
Total @it 603,593 796,818 1,400,411 (477045) 923,366
RESULT £
Segment profit D EFIE 29,819 43,287 73,106 = 73,106
Finance costs B R AR (10,601)
Changes in fair value of unsecured ~ EHBLEBEREEATEZ
structured borrowing # 9,464
Changes in fair valug of derivative ~ (T4 ¢RI EAALEZEF
financial instruments 23,452
Profit before taxation 5 31 71 95,421
The accounting policies adopted in preparing the reportable BRI EHHEELREEA Z @5t KR E
segment information are the same as the Group's T3S AERSABERER

accounting policies described in Note 3.

Segment profit represents the profit earned by each
segment without allocation of finance costs, changes in
fair value of unsecured structured borrowing and changes
in fair value of derivative financial instruments. This is the
measure reported to the chief operating decision maker
for the purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment.

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.

No revenue from any single customer during the year
contributed over 10% of the total revenue of the Group.

DEBHBRREDIAMBMZAME - BRD
EMBERA BEEREBEEEATEZE
EUTESRTARAFEZES - /DR
BEREFERAMERGEEIERERREL
T .

DEEEEN2RRITMEFE

RER TEREME-FTPZHUERERES

AEEKZREEIOY °
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7 WENDRER =)
(continued)
Segment information (continued) DEER (&)
Other segment information At 7 SBEH
For the year ended 31st December, 2010 BE_Z-TF+-A=1+—HLFE

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit: HESHMNEEBRE S
Corrugated
Containerboard Packaging Total
AR RiEE% st
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TFET FHET FET
Interest income FE WA 239 386 625
Amortisation of prepaid lease TR FH & SR IE 8 5
payments 344 261 605
Depreciation e 46,415 21,612 68,027

For the year ended 31st December, 2009

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit:

HE-STAF+-AS+—HLFE

AEOBANERERZEHE

g m

s s

Corrugated a E

Containerboard Packaging Total LZD e

76 1R 4K A58 % HaEr g #

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 O

FA T FAT TET Sa

o
Interest income L2 A 906 280 1,186 g
Amortisation of prepaid lease T8 15 78 & 7178 # 85 S
payments 232 261 493 g
Depreciation e 37370 24,159 61,529 £
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7 WERBRSBEL )

(continued)
Segment information (continued) DEE R (Z)
Geographical information ith BB & HY
The following table set out information about (i) the Group's TREHEBONNEBREFMEMRE D 2
revenue from external customers by location of customers GNIR B B U B Reii) AN 52 B 3% & E BT 1 i = 2
and (ii) the Group's non-current assets by location of DZIERBEEZER
assets:
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
PREF W ERBEE
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTHAT THET FHT
PRC ] 1,428,886 923,366 1,284,867 1,229,744
Others H - - 5,676 5,860
1,428,886 923,366 1,290,543 1,235,604
Segment assets and liabilities DHEEREE
The measure of the segment reporting of the Group TEHEERERREFEERIBERRIR
reported to the chief operating decision maker for BMZAZAEE S BHRERFL BT AEME
the purpose of resources allocation and performance EREE Bt WEZEISHEERAE -
assessment does not include any assets and liabilities.
Accordingly, no segment assets and liabilities are
presented.
8. OTHERINCOME 8. HtlwA
2010 2009
HK$000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT
Other income includes: HE A BE
Exchange gain, net bE 5, Uy #50F (B 137 =
Interest income from bank balances AT A R A E A 625 1,186
Scrap sales BEmies 868 1,334
Service income Bk 75 4 A 15,844 10,780
Sundry income HMETH A 1,843 1,390

19,317 14,690
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FINANCE COSTS 9. Bt #& B 2N
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHExT T T
Interest on bank borrowings ARAFANEBN2BITEE
wholly repayable within five years Z A B 21,126 17403
Less: amounts capitalised to property, & : BExR W  BE R E
plant and equipment ZERE - (6.802)
21,126 10,601

In 2009, borrowing costs capitalised arising on the general
borrowing pool of the Group were calculated by applying
a capitalisation rate of approximately 3.3% per annum to
expenditure on the qualifying assets.

R-ZBZENFABAKE-—REESHRE
AZBERATIHREREERIREARL
FREELERHNII%ATEMSH o

No borrowing costs were capitalised during the year ended RBE_ZT—TF+_HA=+—HILFER -
31st December, 2010. *Eiﬂfi%ﬁizﬁﬁﬁﬁzﬁ
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FREBAX
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEx T T
Current tax: BVEARH I :
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBFER 1,015 1,207
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PEMEMER 1,351 789
2,366 1,996
Deferred tax (note 25) iR FE B 18 (M9 3525) 9,159 9,660
11,525 11,656
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the BEAFNGHREZEMBAFEMTERRANE 2
estimated assessable profit for both years. 16.5%&T & °
A portion of the Group's profits are earned by the Macau RNEE D FE T B A S BB BRI
subsidiaries of the Group incorporated under the Macau IR [ B = 0% 12 5 AR 2 2 SR P B B A B B ik

SAR’s Offshore Law. Pursuant to the Macau SAR'’s
Offshore Law, such portion of profits are exempted from
Macau complimentary tax, which is currently at 12%
of the profits. Further, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, that portion of the Group's profit is not at
present subject to taxation in any other jurisdiction in which
the Group operates.

B -REBEBFARHNITRERRERE @ ZHD
MEBAGMRPIESER(BARAEZ 12%
B s ARBEERE  BRIAKHE
ZEHOMNBTBEARARBERLENE ZEM
H RLAE R AZMTIR -

SEEEERERAS

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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F—FFL_A=1—HIFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10. FiB#HBX @
Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, WRIBEAEBAZ P B NMER  REBEETR
the major operating PRC subsidiaries of the Group are FTREECTEMNBRAREERAEFNFEER
exempted from PRC Enterprise Income Tax for two years ST FEEREHNTRCEMGER =
starting from their first profit-making year, followed by a FRBP 50% PR EMSH o
50% reduction for the next three years.
Under the law of the People’s Republic of China on $E}Tg FEAREMNMBCEMBRIE(NDERR
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law") and Implementation B EDRCEREBSREZETHIEN B =
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC 2)\¢ A—BE HERBARIZEER
subsidiaries is 25% from 1st January, 2008 onwards. 25% -°
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the FEBIE X H RS 2 E W & = TR 5 AT A
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of HZEHERNAT -
comprehensive income as follows:
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Profit before taxation NI DI 83,235 95,421
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate RBEBNEHE16.5%
of 16.5% (2009: 16.5%) (ZZZNF 165%) T H
ZTIAE 13,734 15,745
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERMBAZH G E
tax purpose (933) (726)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible ~ RA[ IR FE X 2 BiiE 2
for tax purpose 2,198 1,730
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised R FERT B E B 2 i & 428 -
Utilisation of tax losses previously FRERARERZHIAEE
not recognised (22) (115)
Effect of tax exemption/different tax R B A R ER AT IE TR
rate of PRC subsidiaries ENGIPA -2 1,696 5,101
Effect of tax exemption granted to RPN B AR ER R
Macau subsidiaries BBz w2 (10,636) (10,370)
Tax effect on undistributed earnings of  H Bl B A &l &k 9 Ik & F| 2
PRC subsidiaries (Note 25) s s 2 (M 3E25) 5,150 =
Others ) (90) 291
Tax charge for the year FEHRBETH 11,525 11,656

Contingent liabilities relating to taxation of the Group are

set out in Note 30.

BRAKEREZXABBEHNHIEI0 -
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11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1M1. FEFH
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Profit for the year has been arrived FEFBES M GEA) T
at after charging (crediting): &I ¢
Auditor's remuneration 1% 25 B BN < 1,550 1,480
Reversal of allowance for inventories BOEFEEREGIAIHEE
(included in “cost of sales” and “cost B | R [HER AR 2
of inventories recognised as TFERAL) (K&E)
expenses”) (Note) (54) (13,851)
Cost of inventories recognised ERAEASIZ2FE
as expenses AR 1,167,934 746,425
Depreciation of property, plant ME  BEREEZ
and equipment e 68,027 61,529
Exchange (gain) loss, net (included PEN (Uhex) BB R 88 (RT A
in “other expenses”) [HAhF ) (137) 1,070
Release of prepaid lease payments B+ RERNEE
on land use rights IE 605 493
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEME  BEIKRE
and equipment B8 654 164
(Reversal of impairment loss) 2 S EWFIEZ a
impairment losses on trade (% B (8 B 18 ) R (B e E
receivables (included in B8 (Gt ATEMRFAXZ]) S =
"other expenses”) (3,589) 3,563 3 ﬂ
Operating lease rental for warehouse ~ AERMAZKEEHE £ &
and office premises HE 96 101 3
T i
‘ S =
Staff costs B TR A o
Directors’ emoluments (Note 12) BE=0 e (eE12) 11,728 12,218 O
Other staff Hth8a T 2
— salaries and other allowances - & R HE M ERE 76,349 47534 E
- retirement benefit scheme —RARAE 5 B K Q
contributions 4,365 3,168
— share-based payments - AR E A ZEH 1,022 1,496
93,464 64,416
Note:  The reversal of allowance for inventories is recognised based Mzt KEREBZTE#HRE  FEREBEZEBDSIEA
on the increase in net realisable value following the gradual B FEZEMT AR ©
recovery of economic downturn.
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12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND 12. EEME RIES T
EMPLOYEES’' EMOLUMENTS
Directors ==
Other emoluments
Hitfe
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme  Share-based 2010 2009
Fees benefits Bonus ibution: payment: Total Total
E% BIKER R £}
ue HiER A SEMR XX mewm HessE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Ki TET FTET THET TET FTET FET FTET
Mr. Hui Sum Kwok HREEE - 2,268 - 12 433 2,713 2,781
Mr. Hui Sum Ping FRFEE = 2,268 = 12 486 2,766 2,863
Mr. Hui Sum Tai HRREE - 1,998 - 12 502 2,512 2,717
Mr. Wong Wing Por I%}&"%E = 2,079 = 12 482 2,573 2,647
Ms. HuiYuen Li - 661 - 12 17 790 826
Mr. Liu Kwok Fai, Alvan a 64 - - - 13 77 128
Mr. Chee Man Sang, Eric 12 - - - 13 125 128
M. Yip Kwok Kwan ﬁlﬂ Vit b 47 = = = = 47 -
Mr. Wong Chu Leung bbbt 112 - - - 13 125 128
Total for 2010 —E-TEEMeLE 335 9,274 - 60 2,069 11,728 12,218
Total for 2009 “ETNFEMEBE 324 8,905 343 60 2,586 12,218
Notes: B 2
(a) Mr. Liu Kwok Fai, Alvan, has resigned as an independent non- (a) BEEBEXAER T ZTFLtAT+HEEEE T
executive Director on 15th July, 2010. FEHITESE -
(b) Mr. Yip Kwok Kwan had been appointed as an independent (b) ERYEER T TFLATHEHEZESR

non-executive Director on 15th July, 2010.

Bonuses to Directors are determined based on the financial
performance of the Group for the two years ended 31st
December, 2010.

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to these Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office and no
Director had waived any emoluments.

BYFBITES -

EERANZERE_T-ZTF T A
St—ALMEAFEAREZMBREEE -

FR AEEREXNEARS THEES
ERBEEMAXEREMARKEEZ 2E
SRIEREBRBES  TEEENERMENM
e o
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12. DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS AND 12. EEMENEETFM =)
EMPLOYEES’' EMOLUMENTS (continued)
Employees 3=
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the AEELUEZSFMALTHAL(ZZEZNF
Group, five (2009: four) were directors of the Company : Eﬁﬁ%$’&’7§$ BEZHFME R LEX
whose emoluments are set out above. The emoluments gy - BEZZTAFT_A=+—HILLHF
of the remaining one individual for the year ended 31st F BT A+ZEMemT

December, 2009 were as follows:

2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Salaries and other benefits e RHEAMEF - 812
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 38 1@ F| 51 21 4 2 - 12
Share-based payments AR Xt 2 X - 513
- 1,337
97
13. DIVIDENDS 13. RE
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000 e @
FHET FAT E ﬂ
= i
Final dividend paid in respect of BREZZZNFREAKRE 9 &
2009 of 2.20 HK cents per share FR%2.2078 1 (:$$ﬂ¢ : g
(2009: Final dividend paid in respect ,)Ef T\ FRER e w
of 2008 of nil per share) Tl 10,625 - S
Interim dividend paid in respect of 77f(:§ TERHRKRE % @
2010 of 1.00 HK cent per share tHﬂOO/%ﬂJJ(f? 77L¢ )
(2009: Interim dividend paid in respect &k — T T f1 45 Fh HR %) §
of 2009 of 1.00 HK cent per share) 8% 1.0078 1) 4,829 4829 g
==
15,454 4,829
The final dividend of 3.40 HK cents per share in respect EERESENEE—_ETE—TE+-_HA=+—
of the year ended 31st December, 2010 has been HIEFE 2 REKREFKRI40%EM - EBHFAR
proposed by the Directors and is subject to approval by the N RERREERRBERSHE  HEEE -
shareholders of the Company in the forthcoming annual
general meeting.
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14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

14.

sRAER

ARABEAEANBREERERNREERNITIZ
AT 8IEFE -

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Earnings & F
Earnings for the purposes of basic STEEREAREERF 2
and diluted earnings per share 7 71,710 83,765
2010 2009
Number of shares g =]
Weighted average number of ordinary 5t & & R E RN ZF| 2 IN#E 15
shares for the purpose of basic T3 IS IS X
earnings per share 482,924,000 482,924,000
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary HEREGE 2 EEEE L AR
shares in respect of share options -2 13,912,834 2,577,829
Weighted average number of ordinary =+ & & % # 58 & A 2 hnfE 15
shares for the purpose of diluted I i A% A% X
earnings per share 496,836,834 485,501,829
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15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. ¥  BERRE

Furniture,
Factory Leasehold fixtures Plant,
Construction premises land and Leasehold and office machinery and Motor
in progress in the PRC buildings imp i t Juif t hicl Total
HELH HEW%E GH KB BE %
EEIR HEBE )%: £ % REAZRE PEL RE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEL TAL FET FEL TAL FEL FEL
COoSsT 2%
At 1st January, 2009 —Z2TAE-R—H 91,568 448,539 4,476 34,47 10,781 700,057 10,419 1,300,311
Exchange adjustments 3RS - - (2) (13) (1) (225) (2) (243)
Additions #R 10,925 10,538 - 3575 2,577 136,789 826 165,230
Disposals & = - - - (57) (721) (835) (1,613)
Transfer K (102,493) 1,696 - 272 - 100,525 - -
At 31st December, 2009 —ZENFTZA=1t-H = 460,773 4,474 38,305 13,300 936,425 10,408 1,463,685
Exchange adjustments [E 5 A% - 12,753 45 569 168 23,522 102 37159
Additions B - 1,413 - 4,129 644 81,447 1,415 89,048
Disposals & - - - (71) (33) (1,183) (88) (1,375)
At 31st December, 2010 —E-T£+-A=+-H = 474,939 4,519 42,932 14,079 1,040,211 11,837 1,588,517
DEPRECIATION AND REREH
AMORTISATION
At 1st January, 2009 —2TAE-R-H - 33,339 673 24,303 4,821 132,025 6,510 201,671
Exchange adjustments ERAR - - - 6 - 24 1 31
Provided for the year FREEE - 18,134 179 5,522 1,122 34,987 1,685 61,529
Eliminated on disposals R - - = = (33) (305) (451) (789)
At 31st December, 2009 “EEAFT-A=1-H - 51,473 852 29,831 5910 166,731 7645 262,442
Exchange adjustments ERAE - 1,270 7 422 45 2,093 72 3,909
Provided for the year FREEE - 18,736 180 3,351 1,235 43,188 1,337 68,027
Eliminated on disposals HERTH - - - (35) (20) (398) (88) (541)
At 31st December, 2010 ZZ-TF+-A=1-R - 71,479 1,039 33,569 7170 211,614 8,966 333,837
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31st December, 2010 —E-TF+-A=+-A - 403,460 3,480 9,363 6,909 828,597 2,871 1,254,680
At 31st December, 2009 —EENE+-A=1+—H = 409,300 3,622 8,474 7390 769,694 2,763 1,201,243

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

SEEEERERAS
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15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% BEERRH =
(continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are Lt BMEREEEBEANEGEEENUT
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates FERYTE
per annum:
Factory premises in the PRC 4% & 5B 4%
Leasehold land and buildings 4% HELHRET 4%
Leasehold improvements 20% HEMERE 20%
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 10% B - EERBAZRAM 10%
Plant, machinery and equipment 3'/,% - 33'/,% BE - #eS REE 3/,% - 33"/,%
Motor vehicles 20% YR ER 20%
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
The carrying value of the Group's FRINRZAEEBEE 40 K%
leasehold land and buildings shown BFZEEAESE :
above comprises:
Situated in Hong Kong under MR B BB AAELD
medium-term lease == 1,313 1,389
Situated in Macau under 7 7A SR P9 30 %2 BR AR BB AR 49
medium-term lease E 2,167 2,233

3,480 3,622
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16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS ON LAND USE 16, + i {F FfEFa 10 S 218

RIGHTS
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT F& T
The Group's prepaid lease payments AEETHEAERGHEE
on land use rights comprise: RIBEIE
Land use rights in the PRC 7 P HP B 2 - b {55 A A
Medium-term lease FHE 49 36,715 35,170
Analysed for reporting purposes as: FLERMEDIT :
Non-current asset ERBEE 35,863 34,361
Current asset B & B 852 809
36,715 35,170
Included in the Group's prepaid lease payments on land use AREBZ I FEAEBRNEERER E
rights is HK$1,934,000 (2009: HK$1,995,000) prepayments 1,934,000 T (ZZZ N F : 1,995,000/ Jt)
under processing arrangement which represent the prepaid ZMTEZHBEMNR DL HERAESEA
amount under an operating lease for land use rights. ETNZHENEEE -
17. INVENTORIES 17. & £m
E
2010 2009 2 g
HK$'000 HK$'000 2 E
FBT THET S
@]
T
Raw materials R H 168,801 136,986 % ilg
Work in progress R & 1,452 73§
Finished goods SR G 65,987 17103 g
=
236,240 154,862 &
= =
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18.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

18. EZ K HMEWFIE

2010 2009

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET F& T

Trade receivables B 5 rEERIE 232,964 167.714
Less: allowance for doubtful debts W REREE (784) (4,356)
232,180 163,358

Other receivables H b fE g k1B 257 192
Total trade and other receivables B REMBEWRRIBESE 232,437 163,550

The Group allows credit periods ranging from 5 to 150
days to its trade customers which may be extended to
selected trade customers depending on their trade volume
and history of settlement with the Group. The following is
an aged analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for
doubtful debts presented based on the invoice date at the

end of the reporting period:

AEEBETESEFSE150BEEH - B
NREBEFREEFPEAEEZEZERNRT
BMERZEEH  THARBEHRRER
HRERIHNMBERRBEERMEZINE ZEK
HRIARRE DT

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Within 30 days 30H A 194,621 137639
31 -60 days 31£60H 17,949 11,823
61 - 90 days 61290H 10,471 6,281
Over 90 days @90 H 9,139 7615
232,180 163,358
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 18,

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an
external litigation search to assess the potential customer's
credit quality and defines credit limits on a customer-by-
customer basis. Limits and scoring attributed to customers
are reviewed monthly. Trade receivables that are neither
past due nor impaired relate to customers for whom there
was no recent history of default.

Included in the Group's trade receivable balance are debtors
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$29,820,000
(2009: HK$17487,000) which were past due at the reporting
date for which the Group has not provided for impairment
loss. Such amount relates to a number of independent
customers that have good trade and payment records with
the Group. There has not been a significant change in credit
quality of the relevant customers and the Group believes
that the balances are still recoverable. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances. The average age of
these receivables is 51 days based on invoice dates (2009:
54 days).

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due
but not impaired

ESREMEVRRE )

Eﬁmﬁﬂ%gﬁm'$%ﬁé%%%%ﬁ
MREBRRR FAHBETPZEEEREAR
BEEFPR EFE@% EFZEERER
e AERRE - BEREBXRREZ
B 5 e e R IA BT R I G B SRR R 2
FE# -

AEBECZESRBUARELEHRTBIEREAELR
% /529,820,000 7T 2 FEWGRIB(Z T N5 -
174870008 L)  ZERENRBEB D @E -
MASETERERESBETRE - 25
REEEAEERFROABES RN REHRZ
;%é%**ﬁﬁt%a CHERPZIEEHEERL
mMEARE  BASEREMAIKRESRMLE
4 o $%II%WEZE%%%W%EEFHEW
Do BEBBRZEAH  ZERWFENFEHRER
BSIA(ZEZNF :64H) °

CEBERREZES EBRNREZR
[

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT FET
Overdue 1 to 30 days B HI1ZE30H 29,820 17487
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts REBREZEZS
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT F&T
Balance at beginning of the year F )R 4,356 803
Exchange adjustments PE & A& 17 -
(Reversal of impairment losses) B ERFIAEZ
impairment losses recognised ERER(BEORESRE)
on trade receivables V8B & 18 (3,589) 3,653
Balance at end of the year FR & 784 4,356

Impairment losses were recognised based on the
Group's historical experience, aged analysis and internal
assessment of the recoverability of the debt. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these balances.

BMEBBRDREBEASEHERZBELR
R DT RREKE N AT A MmER - &
SEYERZFERMTHEAERRD -

SEEEERERAS

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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19.

F—FFL_A=1—HIFE

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 19. T4 €T A
2010 2009
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
EE =L BE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET THAT TAT
Foreign exchange forward HNERBEL
contracts 2,642 (3,527) 262 (1,208)
Interest rate swaps & 45 55 - - = (65)
2,642 (3,527) 262 (1,271)
The Group has entered foreign exchange forward contracts AEBFTUIIERBELHUNEERES T UK
to manage its exposure to currency risk of certain trade, bills TECES EBRREMEMNRERX2E
and other payables denominated in foreign currencies. These BER ZETETETREBEPEEA
derivatives are not accounted for under hedge accounting. BREZ IR o
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Net cash inflow from settlement FAUTESMTIAEZE Y
of derivative financial instruments FIRERA
during the year 2,705 620

At 31st December, 2010, the Group had outstanding
foreign exchange forward contracts that are measured
at fair value at the end of the reporting period. The Group
has an obligation, in accordance with the terms of the
respective contracts, to buy or sell US$ monthly until
maturity. The instruments purchased are to be settled on
a net basis. The major terms of these outstanding foreign
exchange forward contracts are as follow:

(i) Foreign exchange forward contracts as at
31st December, 2010

Total monthly Remaining total

R_E—ZTFE+_A=+—H AEHHK
BT ZINERBAELNTNIRFEBRRZAFE
AR RESEHNZER  AEEBFEEIEA
BARBELETL BEEANIHAL -EBEZ
TEBIRFELEE - ZSERNARBITZIHINER
HENEZHKRAT :

i) R=-ZFB-FTF+-A=+-HZ
SEEHEN

notional amount notional amount Contract rate Maturity
BRAERESH HRTERESHE EHER & % F 5
Buy US$12,500,000 (note i) US$109,500,000 HK$7.735/US$1 to HK$7.8/US$1 Within 2 years

H A12,500,000% jt (P 5E) 109,500,000 JT

Buy US$4,000,000 (note ii)
B A 4,000,000 7T (Fff3Fii)

US$72,000,000
72,000,0003 7T

Sell US$2,000,000 (note iii)
Z 2,000,000 7t (B 5Fiii)

US$28,500,000
28,500,0003% 7T

7735870, 1 ETLEISHE T, 1ETT

HKS$7.

7731}

RMB6.87/US$1 to RMB7/US$1
AR#6.877L,/ 1% TLE

M E R

731/US$1 to HK$7.8/USS$1
BT,/ 1 ETLERISHE T, NET

Within 2 years
REIN

Within 2 years
BEIX

ARBITTMET
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19.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(i)

Foreign exchange forward contracts as at
31st December, 2010 (continued)

Notes:

Under the above foreign exchange forward contracts,
the Group will receive US$ and deliver HK$ at
stipulated contract rate on a monthly basis. At each
monthly settlement, when market HK$/US$ exchange
rate moves favourable to the Group (i.e. spot HK$/
US$ exchange rate is at or higher than the contract
rate), the Group gets to buy the agreed notional
amount of US$ at the contract rate. However, when
market HK$/US$ exchange rate moves unfavourable
to the Group (i.e. spot HK$/US$ exchange rate is
lower than the contract rate), the Group gets to buy
2 times of the agreed notional amount of USD at the
contract rate with HK$.

Several contracts with total monthly notional amount
of US$10,500,000 contain additional feature which
limit the Group's potential gains. At the settlement
date, if the spot HK$/US$ exchange rate is higher
than a stipulated cap rate, the Group will not get to
buy the contractual notional at the contract rate.

During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the
Group entered into a 19-months target redemption
forward contract with knock-out feature. The
knock-out event shall occur if the calculation agent
determine that the accumulated intrinsic value is
greater than or equal to the target value.

Under the above foreign exchange forward contracts,
the Group will receive US$ and deliver HK$ at
stipulated contract rate on a monthly basis. At each
monthly settlement, when market HK$/US$ exchange
rate moves favourable to the Group (i.e. spot HK$/
US$ exchange rate is higher than the contract rate),
the Group gets to buy the agreed notional amount of
US$ at the contract rate. However, when market HK$/
US$ exchange rate moves unfavourable to the Group
(i.e. spot HK$/US$ exchange rate is at or lower than
the contract rate), the Group gets to buy 2 times of
the agreed notional amount of USD at the contract
rate with HKS.

Under the above foreign exchange forward contracts,
the Group is a party that has an obligation to deliver
USD and receive RMB at a series of predetermined
prices, based on the price calculated with a pre-
specified formula. The Group will deliver US$ and
receive RMB at stipulated contract rate on a monthly
basis. At each monthly settlement, when market
RMB/US$ exchange rate moves favourable to the
Group (i.e. spot RMB/US$ exchange rate is at or
lower than the contract rate), the Group gets to sell
the agreed notional amount of US$ at the contract
rate. However, when market RMB/US$ exchange
rate moves unfavourable to the Group (i.e. spot RMB/
US$ exchange rate is higher than the contract rate),
the Group gets to sell 2 times of the agreed notional
amount of USD at the contract rate with RMB.

19.

(i)

B

TTESm IR

R-Z2-25+-A=t+—-HZ
HNEEBMEN (&)

RE LANEREH AEBEUHEESKE
R RAEAZTREHEL - NEAKER
BB T EIU T 5 E K R4 AN & (B E A
BT/ ELTEXERAFTREHNEE)  KE
E&Ee mEiaﬂém%%$$Z%m o A

il - & IT,/ 3T 5 B K R A AN 5 (B
E%%ﬁ/iﬁ@%ﬁ%émﬁ$%%$%
BREBETENERERFEARERESHEL
7T e

=R %%é@ﬁ%ﬁ%m,soo,ooo%ﬁz**?/\fa
FEBRBIAEEEERFTI 2 - REER

it & %%ﬁ/%ﬁ@%%%%mi@iz%'
AEBBTERANEREAGNEESE -

RBE= T¢+ A=+—HLEFER -
$%IE — 3+ NEA R B R LR
%é%@ﬁ%&%@ﬁ%%%&%@%#ﬁ

Rt ERERELRA ZAEBEBARKEFRE
BREREE -

RiE L sNE R E A $%@%M%E
@T&HEA%E&;ﬁ%E NEREE
ﬁ%ﬁ/%ﬁﬁ%ﬁiﬂﬂﬁ%@%@é%
BL/ ETEXRERANER)  AIAEES
BRENEXEAZTEELESBIET - A -
WAL/ ETMBERDHAEB (A E H
B/ ETERSERREREDER) - BIE
SESUBTRANERESEAZTRES
BZET °

RiE ESMNERBEH  AEBAFAEFR—
RIBBREEAZARNBREEE ZER &
HELTREAARBZETNTG - REBBLHE
EEHNERZATHETREAARE - N E
RAEER AR ETHBEXFIFAE

EENEMARE XTEXZENSERA L
Ex)  BAIAKEERANEXSHETAS
SRZET - AT - MARE ELmiGER

L L EINL FETH T30
AWER)  AAKEEAARBRADES
ERENATAREEIET -

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

SEEEERERAS
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19. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(ii)

Foreign exchange forward contracts as at
31st December, 2009

Total monthly
notional amount

BRAERRETE

Remaining total
notional amount

BTERATHE

19. fTEEMIAE®

(ii)

R-BBAE+=-A=+—-A2
SERA L

Buy US$7500,000 (note i)
B A 7500,000E 7t (Fft 5%i)

Buy US$3,500,000 (note ii)
B A3,500,0002 7t ( Fff 5%ii)

Sell US$2,000,000 (note iii)
& 12,000,000 7t (BT 5%iii)

Notes:

US$71,500,000
71,500,000 7T

US$18,500,000
18,500,000 7T

US$2,000,000
2,000,000 7T

Under the above foreign exchange forward contracts,
the Group will receive US$ and deliver HK$ at
stipulated contract rate on a monthly basis. At each
monthly settlement, when market HK$/US$ exchange
rate moves favourable to the Group (i.e. spot HK$/
US$ exchange rate is at or higher than the contract
rate), the Group gets to buy the agreed notional
amount of US$ at the contract rate. However, when
market HK$/US$ exchange rate moves unfavourable
to the Group (i.e. spot HK$/US$ exchange rate is
lower than the contract rate), the Group gets to buy
2 times of the agreed notional amount of USD at the
contract rate with HKS.

Under the above foreign exchange forward contracts,
the Group will receive US$ and deliver HK$ at
stipulated contract rate on a monthly basis. At each
monthly settlement, when market HK$/US$ exchange
rate moves favourable to the Group (i.e. spot HK$/
US$ exchange rate is higher than the contract rate),
the Group gets to buy the agreed notional amount of
US$ at the contract rate. However, when market HK$/
US$ exchange rate moves unfavourable to the Group
(i.e. spot HK$/US$ exchange rate is at or lower than
the contract rate), the Group gets to buy 2 times of
the agreed notional amount of USD at the contract
rate with HK$.

Several contracts with total monthly notional amount
of US$3,000,000 contain additional feature which
limit the Group's potential gains. At the settlement
date, if the spot HK$/US$ exchange rate is higher
than a stipulated cap rate, the Group will not get to
buy the contractual notional at the contract rate.

Contract rate Maturity
EHER [E W 5
HK$7.726/US$1 to HK$7.744/US$1 Within 2 years
7726 T NETLE M E A
77447 T R T
HK$7.720/US$1 to HK$77369/US$1  Within 1 year
77208 T NETLE —FR
773697 7T,/ 17T
RMB7.635/US$1 to RMB7.670/US$1  Within 1 year
AR#7635TC 1XTTE —FR
ANER¥76707T,/ 1% T
M 5E

BiE EMINERBEL  NEBUETESHOE
REABAETREHBT REALER -
BB ETEERFTA SR (B E S
BIL/ ETERERREREHNER) K&
ERRANEXEAZERRETEZET - R

&8T5 E R F AR & @ E (A
“Eﬁ)’%ﬁ/%ﬁ[iﬁﬁ/\i’]l—ﬁf) Bl A &
BREATANEREEEASRTEESEZ
E

RiE EASNEERRAH  AEBUABRTEANE
R REAZTREHREL - NG ABERE -
BB T, IT T 5 IE K 4T AN 5 @ (B E A
BT/ ELEESREHNEE)  KNEEKR
BREXBEAZERZSRIET AN &
B/ EAWBEERTAAEEE(NEBHE
T/ ETERSRAERGNER) - AR E
BZRETENERERFEARETERESHEL
ETT e

FAZEHELFEA300000ETZETANS
BEEREAEBEBECERINZHEME - REHER -
it & BT E T E R | A T LR IE R
AEBBETERANERBEAANBESE -
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19. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 19. $TESBMIT A )
(continued)
(ii)  Foreign exchange forward contracts as at (i) RA=BEAFE+=-HA=+—8Bx
31st December, 2009 (continued) NEBRBENE)
Notes: (continued) B« ()
i Under the above foreign exchange forward contracts, iii. RiE EINERBER  NEBABEEER—
the Group is a party that has an obligation to deliver RIIBRBFELEIEAZARTELEECZER &
USD and receive RMB at a series of predetermined HETREAAREZITNOR - REBE K AZ
prices, based on the price calculated with a pre- EAHNERERAETELEEZTLNEAARE - RNEF
specified formula. The Group will deliver US$ and A& - %J\Eﬁg/iﬁﬁii%ﬁ%ﬂ GF AN £
receive RMB at stipulated contract rate on a monthly BEAEPARE ETEXRERHERELD
basis. At each monthly settlement, when market EX) AXEESRE i\’]Ei EHZTELE
RMB/US$ exchange rate moves favourable to the SEZET R MARY ELhHER
Group (i.e. spot RMB/US$ exchange rate is at or THREAE(NEBARE EXEXRGH
lower than the contract rate), the Group gets to sell AHER)  BIAEESUAAREIRAHEX
the agreed notional amount of US$ at the contract EEEHETCEEEBLET °
rate. However, when market RMB/US$ exchange
rate moves unfavourable to the Group (i.e. spot RMB/
US$ exchange rate is higher than the contract rate),
the Group gets to sell 2 times of the agreed notional
amount of USD at the contract rate with RMB.
(iii) Interest rate swaps contracts as at 31st (iii) R=TEEHALEFE+=-_HA=+—A80%2
December, 2009 FREHED
Notional amount Maturity date Swaps
EETHE ZHA = 5
HK$50,000,000 17.5.2010 From HIBOR floating rate to HIBOR floating
rate with maximum interest rate of 4.2%
50,000,000/ 7T BB BIRTT H%%}% BERERBRITRAE
wEEE &aflEAE42%
HK$50,000,000 25.5.2010 From HIBOR floating rate to HIBOR floating
rate with maximum interest rate of 4.3%
50,000,000/ 7T BB BIRTT H%%}% SEBERBRITEZ
wEZEE &afEAE43%
20. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 20. THHBERRE

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group
and bank balances at prevailing market rates from 0.01% to
0.36% (2009: 0.01% to 1.98%).

Included in the carrying amount of the Group's bank
balances, approximately HK$nil (2009: HK$79,523,000),
HK$4,290,000 (2009: HK$1,291,000) and HK$2,479,000
(2009: HK$2,363,000) denominated in RMB, USD and HKD
respectively are the currencies other than the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities.

RITHEBAREBEREAEEFAZRE KR
THSMENF0.01%E0.36% (ZEE N F -
001%i198%)2fﬂﬁ Lok o

AEENHBEEEE 2 EBUIIZE
BMARE - ELRBTINEZRITEHZEER
BEHRHNAET %m_%@jm 79,523,000
Y&IT) ~ 4,290,000/ T (ZE T LF 1,291,000
Y& IT) 2,479,000/ 7T (ZEF J14F 12,363,000
/%7'5)

SEEEERERAS

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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21. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. B EBERHEMESRE
The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills payables T ARBERRERBZEZEAEMEI &
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the 5 kBB I 2 BRI T

reporting period:

2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT T T
Current Bl HA 107,498 96,997
Overdue 1 to 30 days #H1=30H 3,488 6,005
Overdue 31 to 60 days #1Hi31 260 H 1,904 1,408
Overdue for more than 60 days B HIG0H A 1,743 2,834
114,633 107,244
Payables for the acquisition of property, ﬁ%g Y BENREZEN
plant and equipment IE 19,151 29,931
Other payables and accrued charges H fth & 3RIB R AT SZ 71,048 53,324
204,832 190,499
The average credit period on purchases of goods is 32 days BEEM FHEERARB(ZEENF ¢
(2009: 34 days). The Group has financial risk management 34H) c ANEBEFT AN KEEREEEE - A
policies in place to ensure that all payables are within the RATBRNFRELHEEEMSRRA -

credit time frame.
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22. UNSECURED BANK BORROWINGS 22. BIEKWETEE
Unsecured bank borrowings comprise: EIMFRITEERIE
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.1.2009
Effective interest rate HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
G kS FHET FHT FHET
Bank loans RITEK 0.586% - 6.180%
(2009: 1.293% - 6.870%) 569,699 487217 465,168
Bank advances RITEK 1.230% - 2.708%
(2009: 1.400% - 2.480%) 146,589 78,920 124,659
Trust receipt loans £ 5E 4B E 3 1.740% — 2.438%
(2009: 1.330% - 2.329%) 58,077 72,216 31,832
774,365 638,353 621,659
31.12.2010 31.12.2009 1.1.2009
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FAT FHAT
(Restated) (Restated)
(E%)) (E5)
2 e
Carrying amount repayable*: EEEREE": E ﬂ
Within one year —F R 329,273 219,212 212,514 a E
More than one year, but not —FELEETBBME O s
exceeding two years 241,822 60,367 176,941 [
More than two years, but not MEN EBETBBRF 2 -
exceeding five years 93,235 249,866 57281 S =
o
(V)
664,330 529,445 446,736 0}
Carrying amount of bank loans that 85 AJ BEFF 2K E B &K 2 s
contain a repayment on RTERZEHE S
demand clause T
— repayable within one year -R—FREER 54,13 51,949 70,460
— repayable after one year -R—FRER
(shown under current liabilities) CIENA IR 55,922 56,959 104,463
774,365 638,353 621,659
Less: Amount due within one year  J5 : R BRI T2 —ER
shown under current liabilities R peheoy (439,308) (328,120) (387437)
Amounts due after one year shown R IEREN & &R 2 —F14
as non-current liabilities FEeE 335,057 310,233 234,222
e The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set e N IRBERRER BB CEZEEEER

out in the loan agreements. HHEE -
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22.

23.

F—FFL_A=1—HIFE

UNSECURED BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

All the bank loans are arranged at floating rates, thus
exposing the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

Included in the carrying amount of the Group’s unsecured
bank borrowings, bank borrowings of approximately
HK$5,129,000 (2009: nil) are denominated in HK$ and nil
(2009: HK$113,507.000) are denominated in RMB that are
denominated in the currency other than the functional
currencies of the relevant group entity.

UNSECURED STRUCTURED BORROWING

The Group entered into a contract of unsecured structured
borrowing with a bank during the year ended 31st

22.

23.

HEIEFRITEERE S

FARTERAIB R R -
MEE{:E/ALEWTH S o

38 7 5% [

AEBUHEEEERZNEEBUIIZE
?ﬁ%;‘%ﬁ&/\EM@JEZET&W%E??F%ZEE

H{E 2 5% A 5129,0008 T (ZZTZ A F :
ZHE L) REET(ZZEZ NLF : 113,607,000
JC) °

BEFEBEER

REBEE_ZZERF+_A=+—HIEFE"
AEBRRITIL-BELFH 2 ERRERS

December, 2006 for a period of five years. The contract EBEEAY - ZAABSHERNESTETER M
contains embedded derivatives and was designated as RBEREREIETANUNATES AR 2
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss on BafE -
initial recognition.
On 27th December, 2010, the Group entered into an RZE—ZF+_A=-++tH AEBEFT
agreement for termination of unsecured structured HEARILEEREEEE -ZXRHIEREFRA
borrowings. The transaction was completed during the year TR —_E—ZETEFEF+_A=+—HIEXR
and there was no outstanding balance at 31st December, BiEeh o
2010.
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET F&T
Unsecured structured borrowing, EIRFEBES  28EA:
classified as:
Current (Note) BOER (B &) - 7,750
Non-current JEBNHA - 8,11
- 15,861
Note:  The current portion represents the estimated fair value of fosk - BIEAEFM BN ZEM RS BT —FAMRBITER

amount repayable to the bank within one year from the
reporting date.

SRz G RTE
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23.

F—FES A= —AIFE

UNSECURED STRUCTURED BORROWING

(continued)

Major terms of the unsecured structured borrowing at 31st
December, 2009 are set out below:

BEFEBERE®

R-FBFANF+_A=1—8 BER4
BEZETEHRNAT :

i

Borrowing Maturity date Repayment amount
BE EHAH HELHE
US$5,000,000 25.9.2011 First half year : 2% per annum on the notional amount
5,000,000 7T B¥F  BFFEBELEL2%
Remaining 4 and half years: 8% minus (6% x N/M) per
annum on the notional amount
BT OEH - BFFFRE S L8%M6% x N/M)
Where: Hh
N = number of business days in the period for which N = HFEZ>=-005%2%%HAH
Spread Rate > =-0.05%
M = actual number of business days in the period M = BRI ERZEZHBH

Notional amount = US$50,000,000

"Spread Rate” means 10-year US$-ISDA-Swap Rate minus
2-year US$-ISDA-Swap Rate

“10-year US$-ISDA-Swap Rate” means the rate for a reset
date will be the rate for U.S. Dollar swaps with a maturity
of the designated maturity of 10 years, expressed as a
percentage which appears on the Reuters Screen ISDAFIX1
Page as of 11:00 a.m. New York time on each business day.

"2-year US$-ISDA-Swap Rate” means the rate for a reset
date will be the rate for U.S. Dollar swaps with a maturity
of the designated maturity of 2 years, expressed as a
percentage which appears on the Reuters Screen ISDAFIX1
Page as of 11:00 a.m. New York time on each business day.

The entire combined contract is measured at fair value that
are estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis based
on reasonable and supportable assumptions and market
rates adjusted for specific features of this instrument.
Decrease in the fair value of the unsecured structured
borrowing for the year of HK$297000 has been credited
to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Decrease in the fair value of HK$9,464,000 has been
credited to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for the year ended 31st December, 2009.

The structured borrowing is denominated in United States
dollars that is the currency other than the functional
currency of the relevant group entity.

% % % % = 50,000,000 JT

[B 2 | #8510 £F 35 JT-ISDA-#= B Al &R 2 FF 3

5t-ISDA-H Hi 7 &

[0 X TT-ISDA R MM X [ ERT M E A 2
NEEREERBAEE TFIRAZETE

R X - LR SRR
1B IE (AR S
T e

CWREBEEER LT
#t B & ISDAFIX1 B #

[2F X TT-ISDA R IR R IR EATN X AH 2
MNEBREERHAEEMFIRA XTI

BRI LB DR
118 IE (4
R o

ZAHAEHNEBERATEFE MZA

TR BEEHEB LT
#4985 ) 7E 1% 38 +& B BISDAFIX1 B

F 1B

DERBFRASRENNT RIFAEMNAFIE
BZBRIEMAEEIAZBEERR 2T

MEMGE - FREERE

BEEZR

¥

42970008 T E A AGZE 2 HIREKRA o

HEZZZNF+Z_A=+—HLEFE"
%ﬁ%m

B R 409,464,000 Tt 2 5T A 4R
KA o

EBEEAXTAHE METRAEBSE
B EENIINEE -

it

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

SEKEERBERAS
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24. SHARE CAPITAL

24.

[N

Number of shares Share capital

R4 EE [
2010 & 2009 2010 & 2009
HK$’000
FTHET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each A& EE0.1078 7T 2 LB IR
Authorised: EERA
At the beginning and the end RE A R F 45
of the year 1,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BRI RERERA
At the beginning and the end RE ) R F 48
of the year 482,924,000 48,292

25. DEFERRED TAXATION

25. EEFIE

The followings are the deferred tax liabilities recognised by
the Group and movements thereon during the current and
prior reporting period:

ATRASBEHRRBZEEHBEBERR AR
SHRRAEHREHBZE

Undistributed
Accelerated earnings
tax of PRC Write-down
depreciation subsidiaries  of inventories Total
Y
mE DEZ
BB E A7 IKE A FERA Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THER THER THERT TET
At 1st January, 2009 “TENE—R—H 9,882 210 (1,842) 8,250
Charge to profit or loss for the year £ 78 F & 18 %5 1 B 7818 - 1,842 9,660
At 31st December, 2009 NZZEENEF
+=A=+—H 17,700 210 = 17910
Charge (credit) to profitor loss ~ EAFEEBRING
for the year (5T A) 4,018 5,150 9) 9,159
At 31st December, 2010 R-ZT—TF
+-A=+—8H 21,718 5,360 (9) 27,069

At 31st December, 2010, the Group had unused tax
losses of HK$7,696,000 (2009: HK$5,235,000) available
to offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of such tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The losses may be
carried forward indefinitely.

R-ZE—ZFF+_A=+—H AEEF AU
85 B 1& B 2 K 55 A i 18 & 18 & 7696,000
BIL(ZZT T N 4F 52350008 7T) o @R HE
SETERT AR R FE IR - R sk % S B IE S
BHERELEHIEEE - BHAEEAERAS
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25.

26.

F—FES A= —AIFE

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1st January, 2008 onwards. Deferred
taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries
amounting to nil (2009: HK$39,687,000) as the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

SHARE - BASED PAYMENTS
Equity-settled share option scheme

The Company's share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 4th September,
2003 for the primary purpose of providing incentives or
rewards to selected participants for their contribution to
the Group. The Scheme will expire on 3rd September, 2013.

Under the Scheme, the Board of Directors of the Company
including
executive or non-executive directors (including independent

may grant options to eligible employees,

non-executive directors), of the Company, its subsidiaries,
or any entity (“Invested Entity"”) in which any member
of the Group holds any equity interest, to subscribe for
shares in the Company. Additionally, the Company may,
from time to time, grant share options to any supplier of
goods or services to any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity, any customer of the Group or any Invested
Entity, and any consultants, advisers, managers, officers
or entities that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group or any Invested Entity.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme is
not permitted to exceed 36,000,000 shares, being 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date
on which the shares of the Company are listed on the
Stock Exchange, which can be refreshed according to the
Scheme. The number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised at any time under the Scheme shall not exceed
30% of the issued share capital of the Company from time
to time.

25.

26.

EERIE (#)

BEFRBESEMBHE - BN T MR B

BRAB-_ZTEZTZNFE— A —BRAERZ
FEmE IR Z RSB - B A& B a4 &l H
BEREoBEER BEBEZENARBR
AlRE TR T ERPENBARZ R
AAEELREREBEEASL(ZEENF ¢
39,687000 ) RéR & B I R FHIRIEE T
TR o

DB AR X4 2 < i
REXNXZBRESB

RER_ZZE=FNATNBBBIRHASR "
ARAmEmEMmzBREFE (%A ER
BHRREELEER TERE LEBE=x

BERSUANERER TR -
—E—=FhAhA=ZHRE®

Zar &R

RIEZHE  ARAREFTEAAARQA - HHft
&R A K EEMKE R B A E R E
ZEMBB(AREKBED 2AEREER (R
BHTEETRIFATESTHBLERTES)
REBRE URBARRKD - 5 AR
ﬁﬁ%TﬁFﬁ%h%%Eﬁﬁ$%IZW

AREIHEMARERBREE MRS 2
Eﬁ%%ﬁ AEBEREMARERE ZE
MEE URkAXEEIEMHARERBIR

WA - AERE MM ERSE 2 E @&
AACER KB SEABKIE -

REZAERDZBRREEZHITERT T
AT 2 W) 4 8 - 15 18 236,000,000 A% AX
D AARABOREIFAEMNE D ET
Befn 210% @ MR AR BA AT S E 3 - 1
ETRARERTERBEZABRDEMARITEZ
EHEREMAT FTETRO BB T5E
BEARB TR ZEETHRALZI0% °

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

SEKEERBERAS
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26.

F—FES A= —AIFE

SHARE - BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)

The number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted to any individual in any 12-month period is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company's shareholders in accordance with the Scheme.
Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director or any of their
respective associates would result in the shares in the
Company issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options to such person in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of grant in excess of 0.1% of the shares
of the Company in issue and with a value (based on the
closing price of the shares of the Company at the offer
date of each offer) in excess of HK$5,000,000, such grant
of options must be approved in advance by the Company'’s
shareholders in accordance with the Scheme.

An option may be exercised at any time during the period
to be determined and notified by the Directors to the
grantee and in the absence of such determination, from the
date of acceptance of an offer of the grant of such option to
the earlier of the date on which such option lapses and ten
years from the date of offer of that option. A consideration
of HK$1 is payable upon acceptance of the offer.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of
the Company, and will not be less than the higher of
the nominal value of the share; the closing price of the
Company's shares on the date of offer; and the average
closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer.

26.

URGBZAZ2ZH @)
BREXARZERESE ()

RERRARIREBRFEZTE E & - AT
AEATMREREZERESRZBRHDEE

RAEM+ @A B ATBBBEARER
EEREETRMDZ21% © WA —BEZB/[
R BUFHATEETRTARESAZHE
ATEREEMERE eBHERTFZAL
ZIBERRBEETEMNREZRE B BH(E
FEB)LET-_EASM BEEARETFETZ
RAARKRD  EHRERARIBETRMDER
0.1%  BEEREAR A ROV IXEF L E
&% A B 2 Y (B 5+ & ) #8#85,000,0007% 7T -
AZEREEREEASLESI AR ARKRER
BT 8B -

BRETRESFETRMEARAZHEA
BERFTTIE - MABERE @ MREAR O ERE
EHEEZBRERN B RE & ERE
BRI TF2REBH - RNEMBRER
ANIBITHRE -

TEEDNAARAEFTEE  EFBERK
MEHE ARAKNRELBRHZETER
i BEREBHTABEEER 2 FHKT
BzB=E -
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26. SHARE - BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 26. U ZFzZHe)
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued) BREXAXZERESE(ZE)
The following table discloses details of the Company's TRBEZRHESFRAMEERBZARRE
share options held by directors and other employees and BHEUEZEERENERN 2 EEE -

movements in such holdings during the year:

2010
Exercisable Outstanding Granted Exercised Outstanding
Option type Date of grant price at 1.1.2010  during 2010  during 2010 at 31.12.2010
R=-Z2-ZF R=-ZZ2-ZF
—-B—-B ZE-%2f -2 +ZR=+—H
BB FHAH TEE i R AT 6 R WATHE iR AT
HK$
BT
D 29.5.2007 2.640 18,374,360 - - 18,374,360
E 7.7.2009 0.752 30,000,000 - - 30,000,000
48,374,360 - - 48,374,360
Exercisable at the end of the year
REF LA TR 33,374,360
Weighted average exercise price § E
T T B 1469 - - 1469 = 3
A=
(L
2009 = =
o™
| | | 3
Exercisable  Outstanding Granted Exercised Outstanding T
Option type Date of grant price at 1.1.2009 during 2009 during 2009 at 31.12.2009 S =i
R-ZENE n=2zhe g0
-A—B Z—BBhf =—2TAF +t-A=t+-8B g
HEREE R A A H 176E(8 e AR T AR M7 HAITE 35
HKS &
BT Q
D 29.5.2007 2.640 18,374,360 - - 18,374,360
E 7.72009 0.752 - 30,000,000 - 30,000,000
18,374,360 30,000,000 - 48,374,360
Exercisable at the end of the year
ME KA {TE 13,780,770

Weighted average exercise price
MEETIEITEE 2.640 0.752 = 1.469
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26. SHARE - BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)

Note:

The vesting period, which is the period from the date of grant to
the exercisable date, of the share options granted is determined by
directors of the Company at each time when the options are granted.
Holders of share options granted under the Scheme may only exercise
their options during the exercisable periods as follows:

Option type D Option type E

26. ARGz Hom
BRESZSGARXRZBERESE (&)
Bi3E -

RHBREZRBHARLBHMEATERANHE - 7
MARARIBEERN SRR HBREREE - RIEZTEIE
2 BB RS AME R PA TS A AT (R HAR 17 (2 EL B A

Maximum % of share options exercisable

D35 8 iR E35 B8 B% 72 ATEEREREE DL
1.3.2008 - 28.2.2009 1.5.2010 - 30.4.2011 up to 50%
&= Al #50%

1.3.2009 - 28.2.2010 1.5.2011 - 30.4.2012

1.3.2010 - 28.2.2011 1.5.2012 - 30.4.2013

No share option was exercised during both years ended

31st December, 2010 and 2009.

During the year ended 31st December, 2009, options type
E were granted on 7th July, 2009. The estimated fair values

up to 75% (to the extent not already exercised)
B im A E75% (A M ARTTEE BR)
up to 100% (to the extent not already exercised)

&= Al E100% (A RITHEEBR)

BE-F-BTER-FEAFT-A=t—
LR AR

REBEE_ZFFAFT_A=T—BHLFE R
—ETNFELALARHERBERE - RO

of the options granted were HK$6,851,000. 5 IR 4 2 (5T A ¥ B 46,851,000 7T ©
These fair values were calculated using the Binomial ZEAFEDNFER-_BEARRNEE - ZER
model. The inputs into the model were as follows: FTARSEIT
2009

Share price on the date of grant i BBz R(E HK$0.750 /& 7T
Exercise price T{EE HK$0.752 & 7T
Expected volatility T8 BOR 1R 44.25%
Expected life from date of grant B & B H #5278 HA 4 Hf 3.8 years £
Risk-free rate 1.45%
Expected dividend yield 8 A A% B U a3 2.0%
Closing share price immediately before ZERN BBz RHKRHE

date of grant HK$0.740 & 7T

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s 400-day share prices before
the date of grant. The expected life used in the model has
been adjusted, based on management's best estimate, for
the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioural considerations.

The Group recognised total expense of HK$3,081,000 for
the year ended 31st December, 2010 (2009: HK$4,082,000)
in relation to share options granted by the Company.

T8 B iR T3 A & I B B AT400 8 AN A &R (B
ZBEREET - ZE RN TR A T8 F A
ERBEBEBZREMSRTAEE - 17
R RITREREZZEEELFAE -

AEBBRRABE_T-—TF+-_A=+—8
EFERAR TFﬁ&ﬁZEﬁH%féﬁ%z,@E
i 753,081,000/ 7T (Z T F L4 : 4,082,000/8
TR
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27.

28.

29.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 27 REFREAIE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had RFEEHR  AEERBETAIERELEEHE
commitments for future minimum lease payments under BEARSERENZERE R—FERIE - &
non-cancellable operating lease which fall due within one ¥ /450,000 L (ZZZNF : 76,000 7T ) ©
year of HK$50,000 (2009: HK$76,000).
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by KEHENREASERERE ®WEHA
the Group for certain of its warehouse, ancillary office MEREFEBEMNZEMES HE 2 FHFH
properties and car parks. Lease is negotiated for an average BEA—F(ZZEZNF : —F) IREY
term of one year (2009: one year) with fixed monthly B EREAME -
rentals over the term of the lease.
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 28. EAXREE
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Capital expenditure in respect of the BT KB R R 4R G B 75 R IR 5
acquisition of plant and equipment ZHENMEZEEBERBERNRAX
contracted for but not provided in the
consolidated financial statements 23,419 15,832
RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME 29. R {K1EF 5t &l
Hong Kong b

The Group has joined a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the "MPF Scheme") for its employees in Hong Kong. The
MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme Authority under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in funds under
the control of an independent trustee. Under the rule of
the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at
rates specified in the rules. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the required
contributions under the MPF Scheme.

The retirement benefit scheme contributions arising from
the MPF Scheme charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income represent contributions payable to
the funds by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the
scheme.

AEBESHEETERE ARG ERTESF S
(HﬁE sHEl)) -mEe EJrgME'J)%?@%IJ’\‘EQ

T EPIR B EAELAEERERE
ﬂﬁ °§§ﬁ~ﬁ%ﬂ2§ﬁéﬁi$%l§§’ﬁﬁtﬁ i
HBYXEAZEGNZESTE REBRES

AEIRA - EEREEERBARMRAUERE
E!’JttTfﬂﬁF &I BT R - A& E B R

EoHEZE-BERANEES
bl

A BB AR

RiEa2EKBERIEZ BRED A ERKE
MBI ERAARNEERFEMRE 2L REN
Eo 2K e

117

SEEEERERAS

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED




ANNUAL REPORT 2010

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ml-ﬁ

fn S B 35 ¥k 2% B GE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3157 DECEMBER, 2070

EE—

29.

30.

F—FFL_A=1—HIFE

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME (continued)
PRC

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC
are members of a state-managed retirement benefit
scheme operated by the government of the PRC. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of the salaries of their employees to the state-managed
retirement benefit scheme. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to
make the required contributions under the scheme.

During the year, the retirement benefit scheme
contributions amounted to approximately HK$4,425,000
(2009: HK$3,228,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On 9th December, 2004, a tax audit was commenced by
the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department (the “IRD")
on certain subsidiaries of the Company, namely, Gong
Ming Hop Fung Paper Ware Factory Limited (“GMHF"),
Fung Kong Hop Fung Paper Ware Factory Limited
("FKHF") and Hop Fung (Overseas) Trading Limited (the
“Subsidiaries”), in respect of the years of assessment
1998/1999 to 2003/2004. On 26th January, 2005, 5th
January, 2006 and 2nd June, 2006, whilst these cases
are still under investigation, the IRD issued protective
assessments for the years of assessment 1998/1999,
1999/2000 and 2000/2001 to 2003/2004 respectively to the
above-mentioned subsidiaries in order not to jeopardise
the assessment powers of the IRD which will be time-
barred after 6 years of assessment. In addition, the IRD
issued additional assessments to GMHF for the years of
assessment 2004/2005 and 2005/2006 on 2nd June, 2006
and 19th October, 2006 respectively.

Up to date of this report, the taxes demanded under the
protective assessments amounted to HK$83,056,444 in
aggregate. The Group had lodged objections with the IRD
against all these assessments.

29.

30.
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30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

Subsequent to the lodgement of objections by the
Subsidiaries, tax payment of HK$1,992,965 was made by
GMHF, and tax reserve certificates of HK$480,000 and
HK$1,400,000 in respect of the assessments for GMHF
and FKHF, pending the outcome of the tax audits and the
objections, were purchased in March 2005 and March
2006 respectively. Further, tax reserve certificates of
HK$1,717279 in respect of the 2005/2006 assessments
for GMHF, pending the outcome of the tax audits and
the objections, were purchased in December 2006. Also,
banker's undertakings of HK$13,197475 were arranged by
the Group and had been accepted by the IRD as security
for payment of the mentioned tax. The remaining amounts
of tax of HK$64,268,725 demanded by the IRD have been
held over unconditionally.

Up to date of this report, the Group has not received any
notice of determination from the IRD. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, the Group has reasonable
grounds to appeal against any such determination. Thus,
the directors believe that the above claims would not have
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

a) During the year, the Group engaged Hop Fung
(Australia) Pty Ltd as the Group's purchase agent in
Australia at an annual fee of HK$1 for the agency
services rendered to the Group. The total value
of goods purchased under this arrangement from
the suppliers amounted to HK$15,146,000 (2009:
HK$6,688,000). Hop Fung (Australia) Pty Ltd is a
company in which Mr. Hui Sum Kwok, executive
director of the Company, has beneficial interest.

b) The remuneration of directors, who are key
management of the Group, during the year are
disclosed in note 12. The remuneration of executive
directors, who are also the key executives of
the Group, is determined by the remuneration
committee having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.

30.

31.

HAREE 7

REBRARIERRHER  2HAELHM
1,992,965 TH AT DR R _TEETAF=A
F—EERNFEZARAPEENEEE Y
= % B8 B 480,000 7% T & 1,400,000 7% JT f7#
H UEBREEZRIEERHZER - SR
EERNFE+_ARAPHALER _ZTTHE )/
ZEEREFEZABEE7172798 T #E M
H UEHBEERRREEIREZER o 1o -
ANEBE T HRITHAIE3,1974768 L 1B
XN ERRRZER MR RBE & ZK
o 'm‘%)%ﬁﬁ%*ZEﬁ%%ﬁlﬁm,msjzwﬁm
EREEGKGEE

BHEARETIZBE - ANEE AR KE BB
BZEMREBME - ARAEFRA A%
EEAENEMREMNZIZIRERL LF -
At - EFHELLAFRTIEHAKENEG
BHRRELEEATE -

HAEALIRS
a) £ R - A% B AHop Fung (Australia)

Pty Ltd B A& B BN 2 SRIEREA -
WHERAALEEREZARERS XM
F BB IT o BIR UL I8 & HE A 4 B IR
28 mBAER151460008 (=T
T NF 6,688,000 L) ° AR AT
T = 21 R B 55 4 M Hop Fung (Australia)
Pty LtdP B BEmtEm o

b) SRAGETEEEBABZESNE
NZzMERMER2WE - MITEST
ERAEBEEIESHITHRAER  KE
ZHEBFHEZEERTEARRR
MEBEETE

SEEEERERAS

HOP FUNG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED




ANNUAL REPORT 2010

NOTGS TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fm © Bl §5 5 2% B 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3157 DECEMBER, 2010
BE-FFFTZA=1T—HAILTFE

32. SUMMARISED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 32, XA S ERAEHE
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Investment in subsidiaries RHTEB AR ZEKE 113,455 113,455
Amounts due from subsidiaries A ENGIE @) 1,352,356 1,309,217
Contributions to subsidiaries BLPENGIE:S 428,573 80,247
Deposits and prepayments Be RFEMR 137 149
Bank balances and cash RITAER RIS 5,420 464
Amounts due to subsidiaries XS CIENGI B¢ (1,376,823) (1,005,980)
Other payables and accrued charges HEMERRIERES S H (6,452) (4,795)
Taxation 18 (718) (563)
515,948 492,194

Share capital A% A 48,292 48,292
Share premium and reserves A% 19 5 (B I 7 1 467,656 443,902

515,948 492,194
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33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 33. FEHMIEARER
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries, all of which are RZE—ZTFERZETZNF+=_A=+—8 -

wholly-owned by the Company, as at 31st December, 2010 PiNE/N T ETE2EEEZTENBEARIGFBW

and 2009 are as follows:

Place of
incorporation
or registration/

T

Issued and fully paid share

Name of subsidiary operations capital/contributed capital Principal activities
A
e N =E 1 ERTRAZERE BHRE FEEE
ChunYik (Macao Commercial Macau Ordinary shares MOP100,000 Trading of corrugated
Offshore) Limited packaging
HEaORPIBEFRERTS) BT L 38 1% 100,0002 F #& RIZBEE S
BRAA
Fung Kong Hop Fung Paper Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$100 Provision of management
Ware Factory Limited service
BRecEEmBERAR &HE LA AR 10078 7T R4 B IR AR 15
Non-voting deferred shares
HK$3,000,000 (Note)
AR FHEIL IR .
3,000,0007% 7T (Fff &) & E
S
Fung Kong Shing Fung Paper Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 Investment holding g £
Ware Factory Limited E &
Bl = 5 2 AR om R B R A BA LB AR 2 7T &R )
: #
Gong Ming Hop Fung Paper  Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$100 Provision of management 8 ilg
Ware Factory Limited service 5
ARALEBBERA B %A AR 10078 7T REEERL %
Non-voting deferred shares §
HK$3,000,000 (Note)
BERERIELER
3,000,0007% 7T (Fff L)
Green Forest (QingXin) Paper PRC Contributed capital Manufacturing and trading
Industrial Limited US$112,247,803 (equivalent of containerboard and
to approximately corrugated packaging
HK$764,494,899)
RECEMMAEBRAR* HE B A 2K 112,247,8033% T AR R RS BE 2 BER
(K948 & 7 764,494,89978 7t ) 25
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33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 33, *EM B A 58 % (#)

(continued)

Place of
incorporation
or registration/

Issued and fully paid share

Name of subsidiary operations capital/contributed capital Principal activities
MRS
M A R & B =1 ERTRAZERE BHARE FEEE
Hop Fung Consultants Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 Provision of management
Limited service
SEEHEARADA B L mk2%E T R4t B IR AR 15
Hop Fung Group Company British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary shares US$600 Investment holding
Limited Hong Kong
KBERES/  LTBEAR600%ET KREER
=B
Hop Fung International Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 Provision of accounting
Enterprise Limited service
SEERCERRA B L mk2%E T et st R
Man Shung (Macao Macau Ordinary shares MOP100,000 Manufacturing and trading of
Commercial Offshore) corrugated packaging
Limited
SIECRFIBEFREERTS) BT L 38 1% 100,000)2 F #& RIEBEIZHERES
BRAA

Top Develop Limited

HRERRAF

REEREmBRAR *

RINE R A A

&8 EmOR

Note:

British Virgin Islands

KBELES

PRC

&

PRC

&

The non-voting deferred shares, which are not held by the
Group, practically carry no right to dividends or to receive
notice of or to attend or vote at any annual general meeting
of the companies. On winding up, the holders of the deferred
shares are entitled to the distribution after the distribution
of HK$100,000,000 million to holders of ordinary shares, as

specified in the articles of association.

Ordinary shares US$1
TRAR1ETT

Contributed capital
HK$23,000,000

B 8 A% 823,000,000 7T

(2009: HK$20,600,0007% JT)

Contributed capital
HK$25,000,000

& 1% 4825,000,0007% 7T

(2009: HK$22,000,0007% JT)

BB
5 8 I 25

Investment holding and
trading of containerboard

REZEERREREE S

Manufacturing and trading of
corrugated packaging

EBREZHERES

Manufacturing and trading of
corrugated packaging

EBREZHERES

Xx%ELHQJI?Emﬁil%E BER L
7 AR/
BERSBA
EA/E ﬂ%ﬁ‘r'
EIE R D A AR R A
100,000,000,000,000/% 7T 1% 2 B 5 & °

- Y X AH B 2 B AE fa] B3R
Hj/%‘JZEA EREZRER -
RIEAB A SEAARE -
BERFFE A DK
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33.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Other than Hop Fung Group Company Limited, all
subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting
at 31st December, 2010 and 2009 or at any time during the
year.

@ Green Forest (Omng) Paper Industrial Limited, 3R 5 # 25 4K
@mARAAF and & EH RRINE R A 7] are wholly foreign
owned enterprise.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,
in the opinion of directors of the Company, principally
affected the results and assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

33.

FTEHRBELARER &)

M Hop Fung Group Company Limitedd) » £ fth

FMEMBARIEAARRBEERSE -

R-B-—ZFFR_FTFAF+_A=1+—8H

Xiﬁq&ﬁﬁ%?ﬂ EMBRRIBREREES

* HREGEFBEARDA REEFLRER
RARAUAR(RINERAAGREENE
3
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Year ended 31st December,

BE+-A=+—-BLEE

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T T FHT T FHET
RESULTS e
Revenue W= 799,936 925,533 1,033,152 923,366 1,428,886
Cost of sales 85 & B AR (622,630) (719,799) (846,482) (746,425)  (1,167,934)
Gross profit E A 177306 205,734 186,670 176,941 260,952
Other income Hab g A 17,742 18,526 20,734 14,690 19,317
Selling and distribution costs 8% & % 44 ik 2~ (39,946) (45,355) (46,843) (36,234) (80,963)
Administrative expenses THHAX (42,614) (58,491) (62,198) (61,902) (82,325)
Other expenses HEAX (17.186) (18,786) (11,304) (20,389) (15,746)
Finance costs B 75 B AR (8,644) (6,837) (11,869) (10,601) (21,126)
Changes in fair value of EIRFEBEER
unsecured structured NEEZEE
borrowing (12,366) 9,762 (7157) 9,464 297
Changes in fair value of TESmI A
derivative financial NEEZEE)
instruments (4,278) 10,561 (20,331) 23,452 2,829
Profit before taxation i 71 ) B 70,014 115,114 47702 95,421 83,235
Income tax expense Fr 15 i i 2 (1,716) (3,370) (6,270) (11,656) (11,525)
Profit for the year FEFH 68,298 111,744 41,432 83,765 71,710
At 31st December,
R+=-—BA=+-—H
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T FHET FHT FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERER
Total assets 18 E E 843,030 1,382,537 1,581,391 1,737,719 1,978,055
Total liabilities pal= 358,934 638,795 809,314 883,304 1,030,089
Equity B& 7R 484,096 743,742 772,077 854,415 947,966
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